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VISION

The Pakistan Microfinance Network (PMN or ‘the 
Network’) is the national association for retail players 
in the microfinance industry and is registered under 
Section 42 of the Companies Ordinance. The Network’s 
strength currently includes 46 retail microfinance 
providers [MFPs] that collectively account for over 
99% of the total microfinance outreach in Pakistan. 
Over the years, PMN has emerged as an information 
hub publishing various reports, papers and 

conducting large-scale qualitative and quantitative 
research studies with partners in the industry on 
Microfinance, Financial Inclusion, Financial literacy, 
Digital Microfinance, Product Development, Usage 
and Attitude and others. At PMN, our success over 
the years has placed us in a position with access to all 
the microfinance institutions and develop in-depth 
institutional learning and expertise.

Frontiers of Formal Financial Services reach out to all.

ABOUT PMN
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CORE VALUES

The following values are key to PMN’s culture. They are reflected in the work we do, how we treat each other, 
and how we represent ourselves:

•  Innovation
•  Collaboration
•  Diversity
•  Empowerment
•  Transparency
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• Key Milestones

• Year In Review - 2018

• Digital Services Provider

• Centre of Excellence (CoE)

• New Ahead

• PMNs Management Team

• Financials: The Running Numbers
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I am pleased to present the Annual Report of the 
Pakistan Microfinance Network (Network) for the year 
ended December 31, 2018. 

During the year, the Network has performed 
exceptionally well beyond the milestones set by the 
Board and has successfully delivered on the demands 
of its Members by putting out quality knowledge 
management products and coming up with different 
initiatives for promoting growth and sustainability. 

On the financial front, the Network has crossed a 
milestone of PKR 200 million unrestricted funds. The 
operational revenue of the Network grew by more than 
40% from 2017. 

With a clear goal to achieve sustainability by 2023, 
the Network made significant investments out of its 
endowment. These included a deal to acquire an equity 
stake in a Private Credit Bureau and an investment in the 
technology infrastructure of Digital Services Platform 
(DSP). 

During the year, the Network has also successfully tested 
and finalized the low-cost sustainable model for its 
Capacity Building Initiative – Centre of Excellence which 
will not only be a revenue earner for the Network in the 
coming years but will also serve the capacity building 
needs of the member organizations deemed vital for 
industry growth.

The Research Department also has performed 
exceptionally well and managed to get consultancy 
assignments worth more than PKR 20 million.

Apart from the above milestones, please read the report 
for some additional exciting work that the Network did 
in 2018.

As a national level association, much of what we do 
would not be feasible without the support of regulators, 
policy makers and national apex. The Network and its 
Board also acknowledges and sincerely appreciates the 

ongoing support of the State Bank of Pakistan (SBP), the 
Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) 
and the Pakistan Microfinance Investment Company 
(PMIC) for their commitment to ensuring improved 
governance standards, sustainability and growth of the 
microfinance industry. 

It goes without saying that none of this is possible 
without ensuring that the Network has the financial 
resources to carry out its mandate. We were extremely 
fortunate in attracting major sponsorships and financial 
support during the past year. Our sincere thanks go to 
our many supporters in both the private and public 
sectors, especially UKAIDs DFID that has been a long-
standing donor and supporter to PMN.

The Network’s success also relies on the dedication of 
management and staff who work tirelessly throughout 
the year. On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend 
thanks to all for their continuous dedication and hard 
work that led to a remarkably memorable and record-
breaking year. The Board and I would also like to 
recognize the CEO, Syed Mohsin Ahmed, for his vision, 
commitment and leadership since his appointment, and 
particularly this past year. 

It has been a distinct pleasure to chair the Board of 
Directors over the past year. I am proud to work with such 
a distinguished and dedicated Board, as we continue to 
oversee the work of Network’s management and staff 
towards meeting key objectives. The Board, I am proud 
to say, has played an important role in these activities. 

We now look forward to the coming year and all that it 
brings. For 2019, I am confident in our strategic plan and 
the team we have in place to carry it out, that includes 
our excellent senior management team and our talented 
employees, whom I sincerely thank for all their hard work 
over the past year. I believe we are uniquely positioned 
to face any challenges the year ahead may bring, and 
capitalize on opportunities as they arise.

Syed Nadeem Hussain
Chairperson Board of Directors
Pakistan Microfinance Network
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                       Ms Sadaffe Abid 
Co-Founder

CIRCLE

                      Dr S. Akbar Zaidi 
Economist 

VICE CHAIRPERSON

INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS



KEY MILESTONES

1 PMN has invested in a private bureau “Aequitas (Private) Limited”, a company licensed  

 by SBP to set up credit information bureau for the microfinance industry.

2 PMN has played an important role in the Review of MFI Ordinance 2001, to reflect   

 current industry dynamics.

3 PMN CEO represents the industry at the Agricultural Credit Advisory Committee  

 (ACAC) & Agriculture Credit Committee (ACC) of State Bank of Pakistan.

4 PMN has successfully completed two SMART certifications for its member institutions  

 ensuring the organization practices are complied with the Client Protection  

 Principles.

5 PMN was awarded with various research projects (i)‘Estimating Potential for   

 MicroCredit in Pakistan (MIMOSA Model)’ by Proparco and PMIC, (ii) Microfinance  

 and Enterprise Growth Study (Ability to Pay) by Karandaaz Pakistan, (iii) ‘Warehouse  

 Receipt Financing - Tackling the Financial Needs of Smallholder Farmers’ by MEDA  

 and (iv) ‘Graduating Client Study on Microenterprise’ by Karandaaz Pakistan.

6 PMN played a major role in investor pitching for local microfinance institution and  

 was able to secure 1.5 million Euros for the institution.

7 PMN initiated the Client Awareness and Financial Literacy and successfully  

 onboarded Tasdeeq, JS Bank, Thardeep, EFU Life, ECI, TPS.
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8 PMN successfully organized an International Conference on Accelerating Financial  

 Inclusion through Microfinance where Honorable Finance Minister, Mr. Asad Umar  

 and Minister of State for Revenue Mr. Hammad Azhar graced the occasion with their  

 presence and addressed the gathering.

9 PMN participated in the Global Money Week 2019 campaign and was able to reach  

 out to more than 150000 direct and indirect beneficiaries to help them understand  

 the importance and origins of money.

10 PMN actively engaged its members and conducted an orientation session on online  

 reporting for NBMFIs.

11 PMN conducted a session about the Microfinance sector at the Global Impact  

 Investing Network (GIIN) Investor Forum where sector leaders participated in a panel  

 discussion. 
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PMN create enormous value for its members and for their staff. As our members move through 
their careers, PMN helps them continually build their skills and knowledge, stay connected to 
peers and experts, and navigate changes in their business environments. This year, PMN has 
been investing in enhanced service to members across the board. Some concrete signs of our 
progress are already in place  for instance, we have initiated the Centre of Excellence (CoE) 
for Microfinance Providers and our Digital Services Platform  but these developments are just 
part of an overall program of upgrading and renewal that will continue to improve member 
experience and deliver tangible benefits in the years ahead.
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02
DIGITAL SERVICES  
PLATFORM (DSP)

The Pakistan Microfinance Network (PMN) commenced a project with the aim of Digitizing 
the Microfinance Industry. There are two overarching objectives i) Provide Loan Management 
System in a hosted environment to Microfinance providers along with an integrated Digital Field 
Assistance Mobile application, and ii) Connect Microfinance providers to Digital Service Providers 
through a financial middleware so they can access the financial services distribution channels 
of DFS providers and Commercial Banks. The DSP will act as an aggregator for MFPs and DFS 
providers initially.
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Phase 3

Other objectives of DSP are specified below: 

• To create an enabling digital environment as per SBP’s and PMN’s vision to increase Financial   
 Inclusion through Digitization
• To promote the use of Alternate Delivery Channels (ADCs) for various use cases of MFPs
• To reduce operations costs through automation of the processes while improving efficiency and  
 decreasing Turn-Around-Time 
• To enable MFPs to expand their outreach by diversifying their products menu and customer  
 segments 
• To support PMN’s ambition to increase outreach of financial services as envisaged by National  
 Financial Inclusion Strategy (NFIS) and Financial Inclusion Programme (FIP)
• To provide MFPs a centralized platform to manage their operations via a suite of Digital Services
• To aggregate available agent networks of DFS and provide a single touch-point to MFPs for  
 integration with them

The PMN board formed a Governing council for DSP initiative with expertise in digital services and payments, 
that will provide the necessary strategic leadership and guidance to the project:

1. Mr. Faisal Ejaz Khan
2. Mr. Shahid Mustafa 
3. Mr. Amir Masood Khan 
4. Dr. Sono Khangharani 
5. Dr. Muhammad Amjad Saqib 
6. Syed Mohsin Ahmed 

Since this was demand from the members to have a single touch-point for them to integrate with DFS 
providers and commercial banks, therefore 15 MFPs have signed up for the platform. PMN team also conducted 
detailed requirement gathering sessions with the technology partners to tweak the services according to their 
requirements. Five (5) MFIs are participating in the pilot phase along with two DFS providers. There will be a 
settlement bank which has been selected after thorough evaluation that will be responsible for settlement of 
DSP funds.
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03
TRAINING CENTRE OF 

EXCELLENCE (COE)

Financial exclusion in Pakistan is pervasive though improving gradually. However, it is still lower in 
comparison to the South Asia region. With the renewed focus on the uptake of financial inclusion, the 
State Bank of Pakistan has formulated a framework, the National Financial Inclusion Strategy (NFIS), 
with the purpose to improve financial access and quality indicators through various initiatives. 

Microfinance is considered instrumental in furthering financial inclusion in the country by offering a 
full range of financial services including credit, savings, insurance and payments to the underserved 
and marginalized segments. PMN has developed a growth strategy to reach to 10 Million borrowers, 50 
million savers and 10 million insurance policy holders to compliment the objectives of NFIS. 



To achieve growth targets, the sector aims to double 
its growth which require financing and bringing 
about operational efficiencies. One of the most crucial 
factors to contribute to the growth of Microfinance 
and Financial Inclusion is investment in Human Capital. 
Nevertheless, the lack of sector level capacity building 
interventions lead has dampened the process of 
exponential sustained growth to some extent.  Whilst 
the ever-changing technological environment and 
digital/online banking, the sector must keep up with 
the pace of the changes and adopt these technologies, 
but it too requires skilled human resource. This problem 
persists within every industry, but some industries are 
coping with it swiftly to minimize the risk of being left 
behind. 

Sharpening focus on human capital enhancement has 

become detrimental for the sector to make available 
specialized trainings & certifications on a regular basis 
to their human capital to equip them with new skills and 
build their knowledge. To overcome these challenges, 
PMN has set up a Training Centre of Excellence (COE) 
that will act as an innovative knowledge entity where 
subject matter experts are developing tailor-made 
courses on a variety of demand-driven topics that 
will be updated annually. Our research shows the 
opportunity to maximize impact of capacity building 
initiatives lies with mid-level managers. Therefore, 
the program will mainly focus on areas pertaining to 
middle managers while some courses targeting senior 
managers. The CoE model is based on the following 
principles:

The CoE theory of change is to improve the engineers 
of growth – middle managers. The program will 
emphasize on both soft and technical skills training 
related to risk management, portfolio management, 
financial analysis, digital finance, rural and agriculture 
finance, MSME finance, strategic planning for 
Microfinance providers, management & operations, 
marketing & communications to name a few. 

To realize these objectives, PMN has signed MoUs 
with international training providers such as Frankfurt 

School of Finance & Management and Helix Institute of 
Digital Finance. To conduct the local trainings, PMN has 
engaged training providers that better understand the 
needs of the sector and design courses to cater to these. 
In addition, PMN organized a national Microfinance 
Bootcamp to offer opportunities for learning and 
networking to mid-level managers where they also 
interacted with erudite industry experts on emerging 
trends in Microfinance and Financial Inclusion. 

The Government of Pakistan promulgated Credit 
Bureau Act, 2015 (“the CBA”) which allows for private 
sector to set up credit bureaus. The key objectives of 
these bureaus would be to increase  financial inclusion, 
enhance the scope of credit information available for 
financial institutions, provide value added services 
to the lenders, bring in efficiency and provide public 
access to their credit information. This will make credit 
available to more low risk borrowers, improve access 
to finance & reduce the costs of credit for a good 
borrower and reduce default rates through informed 
credit approval. Going forward these bureaus will also 
collect information from utility companies, telecom 
service providers, insurance companies, and retailers, 

etc.  

Under the Act SBP is the regulator of private sector 
credit bureaus and two entities Data Check and 
Aequitas (Private) Limited (Tasdeeq) have been issued 
licenses by the SBP to commence businesses, all the 
financial institutions including microfinance providers 
are encouraged to share their respective data as per 
requirements of the said Act because this financial 
infrastructure will help MFPs grow and mitigate credit 
risk. Under the Act  borrowers are also entitled to their 
own credit report and we encourage MFPs to  initiate 
awareness of the client’s rights under the Act.  

MICROFINANCE CREDIT INFORMATION BUREAU (MF-CIB)
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1. High Impact Certified trainings
2. Improve approach using best practice adult education
3. Certified trainer education program
4. Leverages technology enabled blended e-learning
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04
RESEARCH AND 
PUBLICATIONS

To ensure that our work is grounded in solid evidence about members’ needs and wants, we conducted 
an extensive course of research and other publications this year. The studies included a variety of topics 
identified by our members and the findings have been shared across our membership, donors and strategic 
alliances. These insights will drive our work to enhance member experience and create added value next 
year and beyond.



According to the SECP’s Microinsurance Rules 2014, 
microinsurance is defined as ‘insurance products for 
the low-wage persons, earning less than the taxable 
income’. The regulations further go on to specify 
features of the microinsurance products setting a limit 
on sum insured allowed. However, these definitional 
parameters are largely ignored by insurance companies 
with most of the insurance companies offering 
products to low-income market segment currently 
operating by their own definition, thereby making the 
exact estimation of microinsurance policyholders a 
difficult task. In 2018, Pakistan Microfinance Network 
undertook a landscaping study, whereby detailed 
discussions were carried out with leading insurance 
providers. This publication documents the results of 
the study, focusing on the de¬finitional issues and 

other clauses in the MI Rules 2014 that render them 
impractical for a budding industry aiming to target 
low-income population. The study aims to highlight 
the microinsurance supply-side issues, ranging from 
a dearth of product diversification, poor knowledge 
of microinsurance among clients leading to low claim 
rate, problems pertaining to distribution channels 
and minimal uptake of technology through different 
phases of service delivery, with most of the insurers 
still relying on paper-based forms and manual 
premium collection and claims payment. To help 
bridge the gap between policy and practice and help 
the Pakistani microinsurance industry grow, based 
on literature review and fieldwork conducted for this 
study, the publication also includes a set of policy 
recommendations. 

MICROINSURANCE REGULATORY & SUPPLY SIDE LANDSCAPE IN PAKISTAN:
By Jaffar Jassim, Michael J. McCord, Saba Abbas & Maham Liaqat

Read More at: http://www.pmn.org.pk/assets/articles/9adeb965cee4be645c76a0cf42e6f2af.pdf

Over the past decade, promoting financial inclusion 
has become a national priority for practically all 
developing economies. In South Asia, access to 
finance along with micro-credit has been the point 
of discussion of public policy for several decades. 
Keeping this in view, PMN along with an international 
consultant took up a research study that explores the 
broader microfinance landscape and access to finance 
in South Asia, regulatory and policy challenges and the 
outlook and challenges.
 
This study provides an overview of the status of 
microfinance, or more specifically, Microcredit in 
six-member countries of the South Asia Micro-
entrepreneurs Network (SAMN), namely Afghanistan, 
Bangladesh, India, Nepal, Pakistan and Sri Lanka. While 
the paper does allude to the broader microfinance and 
access to finance issues, its primary focus is on micro-
credit. In this context, it may be stated that micro-

credit and microfinance are often, but incorrectly, 
used without distinction. The concept of micro-credit 
is to provide small loans to the poor to invest in 
income generating activities or self-owned enterprises.  
Hence, microcredit is a sub-set of microfinance, 
and solely involves providing low value loans to the 
poor. Microfinance, much wider in scope, also covers 
additional non-credit financial services such as micro 
savings, micro insurance, micro pensions and low value 
payment/remittance services.

Over the years, microfinance has evolved to cover 
multiple channels, offering a wide range of financial 
services, with products customized to meet the specific 
requirements of the poor. This study will further 
explore the country-wise data analysis and the factors 
responsible for growth.

MICROFINANCE IN SOUTH ASIA – GENESIS, CHALLENGES AND THE ROAD AHEAD
By Alok Prasad, Jaffar Jassim and Maham Khawar

Read More at: http://www.pmn.org.pk/assets/articles/456e19687e2ad40befea9aa0c555df6c.pdf

Page 7 Page 8Pakistan Microfinance Network | Annual Report - 2018

http://www.pmn.org.pk/assets/articles/9adeb965cee4be645c76a0cf42e6f2af.pdf


Risks to Microfinance in Pakistan is the fourth edition 
of a study that seeks to map the risks being faced in 
Pakistan’s microfinance sector as perceived by various 
stakeholders. It aims to update the risks highlighted in 
the initial publication of 2011 in the face of the changing 
business and macroeconomic environment, as well as, 
new initiatives and developments in the microfinance 
sector. This report describes risks as viewed by a sample 
of stakeholders including practitioners, regulators, 
investors, donors, researchers and consultants and 
industry bodies. The study emulates the methodology 
of the Microfinance Banana Skins published annually by 
the Centre for the Study of Financial Innovation (CSFI). 
Based on data collected through an online survey, the 
results of this study are solely based on the views of 
the respondents of the survey who evaluate the level 

of threat emerging from diverse classifications of risks. 

The report highlights what emerged as the biggest 
risks in the present, what respondents perceive as 
key risks going forward, and analyzes the ability of 
microfinance practitioners to deal with the different 
risks. The first section, Introduction, examines why risk 
management is crucial for microfinance institutions 
and provides an overview of the methodology used 
for this study. The following chapter, Analysis of Data, 
describes the headline findings and showcases the 
responses and perceptions of the participants. The 
third section briefly discusses the Details of Risks and 
Possible Mitigation Strategies for risks and threats 
highlighted in Section Two.

RISKS TO THE MICROFINANCE SECTOR
By Ali Basharat & Zeenoor Sohail Sheikh

Read More at: :http://www.pmn.org.pk/assets/articles/d50844c2a394b1baaadc64d10da6a458.pdf

The Pakistan Microfinance Review 2017 is an annual 
assessment of the Microfinance industry published 
by the Pakistan Microfinance Network. The report is 
based on financial and social performance analysis 
of microfinance providers for the year financial year 
of 2017. It highlights another successful year of 
continued growth across credit, savings and insurance, 
backed by a conducive macroeconomic and regulatory 
environment. 

The highlights of the report indicate that there has 
been a positive surge was witnessed across credit, 
savings and insurance. Some of the highlights related 
to outreach as Active Borrowers witnessed a 31 
percent growth from 4.2 million in 2016 to 5.5 million 
in 2017 with the Gross Loan Portfolio witnessing a 49 
percent growth from PKR 132 billion in 2016 to PKR 
196 billion in 2017. The total number of depositors also 
experienced an impressive growth of 74 percent rising 
from approximately 16 Million to 27.7 Million in 2017 
with the total deposits jumping from PKR 118 Billion 
in 2016 to PKR 186 Billion in 2017, an increase of 57 
percent. The total asset base for the industry stood at 
PKR 330 billion with MFBs making up 75 percent of 
the assets. While MFIs and RSPs continue to rely on 
debt to meet their funding needs, deposits remain 

the primary source of funds for the MFBs. Overall the 
industry continues to be sustainable with an OSS of 
over 100 percent. Moreover, the total income for the 
sector crossed the PKR 10 billion threshold in the year 
under review.

The overall policy and regulatory environment, coupled 
with the industry infrastructure in place, proved to be 
a catalyst for continued growth in the industry. The 
sector is becoming a key player in the expansion of 
access to finance in the country based on its ability 
to deliver and work with the low-income strata of 
society. Client protection and awareness remains a 
key area of focus for all stakeholders. Due to this, a 
client grievance mechanism is being set up, a pricing 
transparency campaign being launched, and financial 
literacy being promoted. In addition, the industry is 
successfully leveraging technology to automate loan 
origination and digital credit. 

The favorable macro-economic environment and 
improving security situation in the country have also 
helped the sector to expand outreach the low interest 
regime has been helpful in keeping the funding costs 
low for the sector. However, it is unlikely that the low 
interest regime would continue over the next year.

PAKISTAN MICROFINANCE REVIEW (PMR) 2017

Read More at: http://www.microfinanceconnect.info/assets/articles/da6af2f0f19ca541bbc04db2f158cf98.pdf
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The microfinance sector in Pakistan is on a rapid growth 
trajectory. The figures quoted by Pakistan Microfinance 
Report 2017 show that the sector is progressively 
becoming a specialized industry. It appears to be 
a healthy sign that microfinance is cogitated to be 
closely associated with poverty alleviation in the 
country. In the context of Pakistan, a combination of 
financial inclusion and social development strategy 
has mostly been successful. It is therefore imperative 
to have a financially viable and robust organizations 
and recruit and retain a good quality human resource 
for this industry to achieve its dual objectives with 

efficacy.

This Micro Note is focused particularly on the salary 
trends in Microfinance Banks (MFBs) and Microfinance 
Institutions (MFIs). The note is based on the findings 
of the microfinance sector compensation & benefits 
survey administered by PakistanMicrofinance Network 
(PMN). The survey results aim to provide sector’s 
corporate management with reliable information 
on prevailing Human Resource (HR) practices in the 
industry.

SALARY TRENDS IN MICROFINANCE INDUSTRY OF PAKISTAN
By Anum Shakoor

Read More at: http://www.pmn.org.pk/assets/articles/3ddd7d9955685c34deeb85e04d1b93a1.pdf

In 2015, Pakistan launched the National Financial 
Inclusion Strategy (NFIS) to help the country achieve 
its financial inclusion goals. Pakistan’s objective is to 
achieve universal financial access, with a headline NFIS 
target of expanding formal financial access to at least 
50 percent of all adults, including women and youth, 
and to increase the percentage of SME loans in bank 
lending to 15 percent by 2020. 

The Pakistan Microfinance Network has embarked 
on the journey to lay the technological foundation 
necessary to realize the goals envisioned in the NFIS. 

The Digital Services Platform envisages offering digital 
services in a shared hosting environment which will 
enable MFPs to optimize their business operations and 
reduce operating costs. The platform will host various 
financial tools and solutions including workflow-based 
product modules, middleware, integrated services, 
core banking and general ledger solutions, and 
MIS and data analytics. End-to-end digitalization of 
microfinance operations will provide the impetus for 
outreach expansion, optimization of costs of operation, 
and enhanced efficiency and productivity.

DIGITIZING MICROFINANCE THE NEXT FRONTIER
By Waseem Malik, Imad Uddin Chisti and Ahsan Mansoor

Read More at: http://www.pmn.org.pk/assets/articles/ae8b6344b1b61cc705c5734f69f9ad0a.pdf

Microenterprises are a distinct sector, different from 
microfinance clients and SME segment. They face 
multiple barriers and challenges in access to finance 
and the majority continue to be financed through 
informal sources, family funds and growth. Their 
economic potential is limited by a lack of finance but 
also other factors: lack of formal business experience, 
financial education, marketing and growth strategies 
and technical expertise while facing regulatory 
challenges and difficulty in formalization.

Regardless of all these challenges, it is understood 
that the microenterprise segment is a profitable and 
high growth segment that can be well served by MFPs 
who play a catalyst role with beneficiaries on a regular 
basis and are comfortable in building client capacity. 
This cannot happen without significant investment in 
their own capacity as most microfinance institutions 
lack product development, marketing and capacity 
building expertise needed to make this a success.

GEARING TOWARDS MICROENTERPRISE LENDING:
By Ali Basharat & Zeenoor Sohail Sheikh
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In a time when country is witnessing an increase 
in workforce entering the market, Microenterprises 
provide an excellent opportunity for employment 
and wealth creation. It is estimated that there are 1.7 
million enterprises including both agriculture and 
non-agriculture in the country. In order to meet their 
funding needs, MFPs need to enhance their capacity, 
extend non-financial services to the clients and focus 

on product development. Regulators and policy makers 
can also play a crucial role in promoting this segment 
by creating an enabling regulatory environment for 
this particular segment. Moreover, provision of retail 
guarantees and dedicated funding lines can play a 
catalytical role in the enhancement of funding to this 
segment. 

Read More at:  http://www.pmn.org.pk/assets/articles/bf446167184469890b47947d3b872f04.pdf

Over the past few years, the changing face of Pakistan’s 
microfinance landscape has been characterized 
by increased attention to the social responsibility 
management of microfinance providers (MFPs). 
This has brought about an industry-wide realization 
that an MFP’s processes, practices and products 
need to be actively targeted towards achieving its 
social vision and social objectives. Therefore, just as 
financial audits are conducted to assess the financial 
performance of an organization, the practice of “social 
auditing” is being increasingly adopted as the primary 

diagnostic tool for assessing social performance of 
microfinance institutions. This MicroNote documents 
and consolidates findings from seven social audits of 
Pakistan Microfinance Network’s member providers, 
conducted over a period of two years (between 2016 
- 2018).  In light of the globally accepted universal 
standards of social performance management (USSPM), 
this publication uses quantitative benchmarks to 
ascertain position of Pakistan’s microfinance providers 
vis-a-via their regional counterparts in terms of their 
social audit results.

Read More at: http://www.pmn.org.pk/assets/articles/21e30e00387a685bc7994ea8d4551963.pdf

THE STATE OF SOCIAL AUDITS IN MICROFINANCE INDUSTRY OF PAKISTAN:
By Saba Abbas

This MicroNote analyzes the current landscape of 
microfinance in Pakistan over the past 10 years and 
focuses on the emergence of Pakistan’s first credit 
bureau, DataCheck Ltd and the industry’s response to 
this. The microfinance market in Pakistan lacked the 
presence of unverifiable, private information as MFIs 
lacked sufficient information to assess creditworthiness 
of loan applicants. This contributed to low participation 
among low-risk borrowers and high prices. 

Following a delinquency crisis in Punjab in 2008, 
attributed to multiple borrowing, over-indebtedness 
and unnecessary political meddling, there emerged 
a need to establish a credit bureau. Supported by 
UK-AID, the State Bank of Pakistan and the Pakistan 
Poverty Alleviation Fund (PPAF), PMN initiated the 
plan to set up a central data repository on borrowers. 
This was piloted in 2010 and a national roll-out began 
in 2013. DataCheck Ltd., a private credit bureau, was 
selected as a technical partner for the pilot.

For this study, data on over 16 million loans 
with information on borrowers, lenders and loan 
performance was used to study the industry’s response 
to the new information made available on borrower’s 
credit worthiness through the credit bureau. The 
methodology employed observed loans from up to 2 
years prior to launch of the credit bureau until present, 
based on four branch performance measures: i) number 
of new loans, ii) average loan size, iii) fraction of loans 
delinquent and iv) fractions of loans defaulted. 

The findings showed that the credit bureau had a 
positive impact on loan disbursements as well as 
loan performance, including reduced delinquency. 
Additionally, branches were seen to not adopt the 
bureau at random, rather adoption was based on 
growth; branches which were growing faster were 
more likely to adopt.

THE LAUNCH OF PAKISTAN’S FIRST MICROFINANCE CREDIT BUREAU
By Gharad Bryan, Jonathan de Quidt, Greg Fischer, Ruth Fortmann, Kilian Russ and Jaffar Jassim

Read More at: http://www.pmn.org.pk/assets/articles/11046bc1972180af1932c221b2798773.pdf
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There is a disconnect in segmentation of the 
Microfinance and the SME market in Pakistan. 
Across the country, definitions vary by stakeholder 
and institutions and even with loan groups. Micro 
individual loans are defined on basis of annual income, 
microenterprise loans on number of employees 
whereas Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) are 
defined based on turnover and assets. There is a need 
for a more in-depth review of Micro, Small and Medium 
Enterprises (MSME) definitions in Pakistan and across 
other countries to ensure the enterprises that are 
considered too big to avail microfinance and too 
small for commercial finance are properly defined and 
differentiated from the ‘Bottom of the Pyramid’ (Micro) 

enterprises and ‘small’ and ‘medium’ enterprises. This 
will allow for more targeted policy interventions, 
thereby ensuring financing continuum. 

This MicroNote addresses the need for uniformity in 
definitions across institutions and proposes shifting 
from SME segment to Micro, Very Small and Small 
Enterprises (MVSSE). It discusses the existing different 
definitions and income limits used in Pakistan and 
around the world, providing a comparative analysis, as 
well as discussing the current financing gaps in these 
segments, leading to the need for greater segmentation 
and the need for definition harmonization.

DEFINING MICRO, VERY SMALL & SMALL ENTERPRISES: MOVING TOWARDS A 
STANDARD DEFINITION CONTINUUM 
By Jaffar Jassim & Maham Khawar

Read More at: http://www.pmn.org.pk/assets/articles/72db10f370b6897ac1c72dda44848495.pdf
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The microfinance industry in Pakistan has massive potential to achieve greater scale, and to tap that potential, 
the capacity of retail institutions needs to be enhanced through capacity building. PMN uses several tools to 
achieve this goal such as events, trainings (local and international), and exposure and exchange visits (local 
and international).

Under the umbrella of PMN’s Center of Excellence, PMN has been involved in arranging some trainings at 
local level and awarding scholarships to candidates for international Microfinance trainings such as Boulder 
and HBS-Accion, Frankfurt School for Finance and Management, and School of Applied Microfinance.
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CAPACITY BUILDING

 INITIATIVES



Pakistan Microfinance Network (PMN) organized 
a 5-day residential bootcamp for the microfinance 
practitioners across Pakistan. The event gathered 
a diverse group of professionals representing 
microfinance banks and non-bank microfinance 
companies, donors, regulators and investors under one 
roof for a week to attend various sessions and immerse 
themselves in the peer-learning experience. 

The bootcamp attracted positive feedback from the 
participants and encouraged the efforts of PMN and 
urged the latter to organize the same on a yearly basis.

During the 5 days, various sessions were held along 
with different activities aimed at creating a learning 
environment for attendees to reflect on highlighted 
challenges and deliberate on strategies on how to 
effectively counter these with useof new approaches 
and skills. The program was also aimed at broadening 
your network of personal contactsand learn from the 
experience of your counterparts.

The bootcamp was concluded by Qazi Azmat Isa 
who explained to the participants that we need to 
bring compassion, passion and vision to the services 
which we are rendering as the objective is to alleviate 
poverty through a holistic approach. Productivity 
and efficiency of human resource should be focused 
and enhanced to ensure that scale and outreach is 
achieved. Gender balance need to be ensured at 
every level and at the same time, those areas which 
remain neglected should be considered for increasing 
outreach.

Syed Mohsin Ahmed delivered the vote of thanks 
stating PMN as an association is grateful to all 
participants, panelists, sponsors especially IFC, 
motivational speakers and organizers for their support 
in making the first ever boot camp of microfinance in 
the country a success and shared his vision to continue 
with such initiatives for betterment of sector players. 
Certificates were distributed among all participants.

MICROFINANCE BOOTCAMP 2018
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The conference was jointly hosted by Pakistan 
Microfinance Investment Company (PMIC) and 
Pakistan Microfinance Network(PMN), where industry 
stakeholders came together to share experiences, 
engaged in dialogue on the latest developments 
globally and locally and formulated directions for the 
future of microfinance in Pakistan.

The primary objective of this event is to provide a 
platform to all stakeholders such as Microfinance 
Providers, other financial service providers involved in 
financial inclusion (like banks, Digital Financial Service 
providers, Fin techs, insurance companies), donor 
agencies, policy makers, regulators, development 
agencies and government authorities and discuss 
around systematic analysis of the growth drivers that 
have direct or indirect influence on the microfinance 
industry and provides a framework to spur growth till 
2020.

The Accelerating Financial Inclusion Through 
Microfinance Conference was held at Serena Hotel on 
December 5th and 6th, 2017 where, Dr. Ishrat Husain, 
Advisor for Institutional Reforms and Austerity of 
Pakistan delivered an opening address for the two-day 
Microfinance Conference, with leaders of the sector in 
attendance.

Another purpose of this event was to initiate a dialogue 
for concerted efforts among all relevant stakeholders, 

to identify the possible bottlenecks that exist in the 
industry that can possibly hinder the digitization 
process and how they can be overcome.

A thought-provoking feature of the conference was 
the partaking of microfinance beneficiaries from 
Tharparkar in Sindh, Khushab and Sheikhupura in 
Punjab. The beneficiaries shared their journey of 
rising the ranks from poverty to prosperity through 
microfinance, the stories instilled a renewed sense of 
courage and motivation for the audience.

Discussions during the days centered on the need 
for international investments in the sector to make 
meaningful progress towards meeting the targets set 
out under the National Financial Inclusion Strategy 
(NFIS) of the government.

The conference participants committed to identifying 
areas of collaboration and to build synergies to enhance 
financial inclusion in the country by undertaking a 
systematic analysis of the growth drivers that may 
have direct or indirect influence on the microfinance 
industry.

The event was closed by the Honorable chief guest 
Mr. Asad Umar – Minister of Finance, Revenue and 
Economic Affairs and was attended by and Muhammad 
Hammad Azhar, Minister of State for Revenue.

MICROFINANCE ANNUAL CONFERENCE 2018

The PMR 2017 launch event was held in Bhurban as 
part of the first ever microfinance bootcamp. Syed 
Mohsin Ahmed, CEO PMN, gave an overview of the 
microfinance landscape in the country highlighting key 
developments of the sector and outlined the current 
and future challenges facing the industry. It was 
followed by a panel discussion about the microfinance 
industry in which leading players participated.
The panelists discussed about the key trends of 
micro finance and financial inclusion in the country 
particularly the regulatory regime for NBMFCs, digital 
services and innovation in technology space, need for 
increasing outreach through product diversification 
and reaching more clients according to their needs for 

financial services.

The panelists also reflected key developments such 
as enabling policy environment to realize growth 
objectives, growing international investors’ interest 
in the sector, impact of digitization, and responsible 
finance initiatives.

The event was well-attended by representatives from 
the State Bank of Pakistan, DFID, Pakistan Microfinance 
Investment Company (PMIC), Commercial Banks, Digital 
Finance players, PMN members (Microfinance Banks, 
Microfinance Institutions, Rural Support Program) and 
other stakeholders.

PMR 2017 LAUNCH 
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Over the two days of the conference, over 300 
distinguished guests and eminent speakers from the 
world’s leading microfinance organizations discussed 
the prevailing challenges and recent developments in 
the microfinance sector.

The conference presented a unique opportunity for 
policy makers, microfinance professionals, trainers, 

practitioners, donors, regulators and other members 
to engage in a dialogue and showcase a wide variety 
of success stories, explore recent innovations, and 
connect with the institutions that are involved in 
accelerating financial inclusion through microfinance 
in developing countries.
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An all PMN members’ meeting was organized by the 
Pakistan Microfinance Network on the 15th of January 
2018 in Lahore. The meeting began with Syed Mohsin 
Ahmed, CEO, Pakistan Microfinance Network (PMN), 
sharing what PMN has been able to achieve at the 
institutional and policy and advocacy level in the areas 
of creating linkages between the Microfinance sector 
and the overall Inclusive Finance Ecosystem, and the 
non-bank MFIs regulation amongst others.

The CEO also presented a snapshot progress of the 
Annual Work Plan 2018 to the members. He further 
informed the members of the new initiatives for 2019 
which included the enhancement of the Training 
Centre of Excellence for the microfinance industry and 
Digital Services Platform initiative and much more.

The first session highlighted some of the innovation 

in the sector like Warehouse Receipt System by NRSP, 
Islamic Microfinance by Akhuwat and How Big Data, 
Artificial Intelligence is changing banking sector. In 
the second session, new linkages opportunities were 
presented to members by introducing WebDoc (Health 
Insurance) a service to provide insurance to the end 
users. 

Mr. Nadeem Hussain asked the members for their 
feedback and recommendations in the last session in 
response to furthering PMNs role for the development 
and enhancing the microfinance industry.

The AMM was attend by most of the membership and 
they highly appreciated the facilitation done by the 
management.

ALL MEMBERS MEETING
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TRAININGS AND 

WORKSHOPS



A two-day workshop on Increasing Access to Inclusive 
Insurance organized by Pakistan Microfinance Network 
(PMN) and the Microinsurance Network (MiN), with 
leaders of the sector. It iterated the importance of 
innovation given the overall low penetration of life 
and health insurance in Pakistan and the bulk of life 
and health clubbed with credit products. It was also 
emphasized the importance of creating independent 
products that go beyond life and health. 

MiN gave an overview of the role of the microinsurance 
industry globally and within the Pakistani context, 
emphasizing how inclusive insurance provides crucial 
underpinning for sustainable development. It is 
designed to meet the needs of emerging consumers 

and plays a critical role in preventing households 
from falling back into poverty after a financial 
shock. It is therefore an important enabler in the 
economic and social development of a country and 
in the achievement of the United Nations’ Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs). As a risk mitigation strategy 
microinsurance is a tool that can considerably reduce 
losses for low-income people and provide solutions 
that are accessible, affordable and sustainable. MiN 
further highlighted how the growth of the inclusive 
insurance sector needs to be supported through the 
development industry infrastructure including data 
collection and research.

WORKSHOP ON INCREASING ACCESS TO INCLUSIVE INSURANCE

PMN in collaboration with the Buildstone Consulting 
Group (BCG) organized aseries of training on Essential 
Skills for Loan Officersfor the microfinance industry 
held at a local hotel in Lahore and Karachi. 

The three-day extensive training course was focused 
on people and money management, micro-lending 
practices, SBP’s prudential regulations, Branchless 

Banking along with the Responsible Finance, lending 
policies & processes, statistical evaluation process and  
financial analysis. 

The session was attended by 61 participants from 
various microfinance institutions.

ESSENTIAL SKILLS FOR LOAN OFFICERS

PMN together with The Helix Institute partnered to 
offer training on Product Innovation, Digital Credit 
and Digital Micro-Enterprise Finance Training in 
Lahore, attended by 24 participants from different 
microfinance providers and commercial banks. 

In the recent past, the emergence of innovative 
financial products like digital credit has allowed a 
significant number of people in emerging markets 
access credit. On account of ease of access and quick 
turnaround, the uptake of digital credit and digital 
micro-enterprise finance has significantly been on the 
rise. However, in mature markets, concerns such as lack 
of product differentiation and poor portfolio quality 
leads to a re-think required on how best to design 
and deliver these products. The course on digital 
credit and digital micro-enterprise finance covered 

the nuances of designing and delivering tools to 
achieve scale while managing the risks associated with 
it. This course was developed based on the cutting-
edge operational insights collected from experiences 
of working with financial institutions implementing 
digital credit in emerging economies. The course also 
focused on responsible product development and 
digital transformation for financial institutions.

This course allowed participants to identify business 
opportunities for digital credit and digital micro-
enterprise finance in the market as well as responsible 
product design and how to use alternative data in 
design and delivery. The training incorporated a variety 
of methodologies to optimize the learning experience.

PRODUCT INNOVATION, DIGITAL CREDIT AND DIGITAL MICRO-ENTERPRISE FINANCE
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As an important component of the capacity building 
function, training is aimed at enhancing the work-
related capacity of the existing human resource of 
the MFPs. This activity has been tiered to include 
International Trainings and Exposure Visits to cater to 
the training needs of the senior management level. 
The international trainings and exposure visits provide 
opportunities to the senior management of the MFPs 
to learn about global microfinance best practices, so 

they can further thrive in their leadership roles.

Keeping in view the growing demand for building 
the capacity of MFP managers and cultivating the 
‘next generation’ of leadership in MFP’s, the Pakistan 
Microfinance Network sponsors 9 candidates annually 
from the member institutions for the following 
international trainings:

INTERNATIONAL MICROFINANCE TRAININGS

• HBS-ACCION, Program on Strategic Leadership for Microfinance

• Boulder Microfinance Training Program 

All these training are intensive training programmes 
providing participants from all over the world an 

opportunity to learn about microfinance best practices 
and share experiences with leaders in the field. 
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SNAPSHOT OF TRAININGS DURING 2018

PARTICIPANTS TRAINED TYPE OF TRAINING

International Trainings

2 HBS – ACCION Strategic Leadership Course

5 Boulder Microfinance Course

1 Boulder Rural & Agriculture Finance Program

1 School of Applied Microfinance

Local Trainings

61 Microfinance Providers ‘Loan Officers Training Program

24 Product Innovation, Digital Credit and Digital Micro-Enter-
prise Finance

50 Microfinance Bootcamp

144 Total industry participants trained (approximate)
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The Network values its relationship with key stakeholders in the Government, in particular with SBP, PMIC, 
DFID, SECP and the Ministry of Finance. PMN continued to hold dialogues with SBP through sector level 
discussions at one on one meeting between the PMN CEO and the Director MFD.Since PMN is a member of 
most of the SBP committees that oversee microfinance issues, the sector’s view is discussed at those forums 
also. PMN also sits on the task force set up by the Planning Commission that reviews Pakistan’s achievements 
and challenges to its commitment with the United Nations on the Millennium Development Goals. 

The following are some of the key policy level issues - especially during the year 2018 - that PMN has been 
engaged in and/or has raised at certain policy level forums.
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PMN has actively been interacting with policy makers 
and regulators to clarify the stratification of poverty 
and that microfinance focus is on a niche market. 
Promoted graduation concept and creating linkages 
between BISP clients with interest free loan programs 
and in the continuum with microfinance providers.

PMN Policy committee and Management has 
interacted with both past and previous governments 
and this has been accepted. PMN responded to call 

attention notice in National Assemble on lending rates 
charged by MFIs. PMN is in discussion with PAK Army 
to extend microfinance in Baluchistan. As such focus is 
on ensuring that subsidy is targeted, and microfinance 
works within the sustainable framework regulated by 
SBP and SECP. Present government is also focusing on 
graduation model so that clients move up the ladder 
and are then linked with MFPs.

INTERACTED WITH POLICY MAKERS AND REGULATORS

PMN is a member of the NFIS technical committee on 
financial literacy and consumer protection. The issue 
around ensuring that a tiered system approach to 
addressing customer’s grievance is fully acceptable to 
NFIS (represented by SBP and SECP). We expect that in 
the next few months this will become part of the NFIS 
operational mechanism.  

PMN CEO is also a member of the SMART Global 
Advisory Board and is not only involved in taking 

decisions that promotes addressal of demand side 
issues but also helps in creating linkage with players 
that focuses on issues of responsible finance, client 
awareness and grievance redressal mechanisms. PMN 
is seeking services of SMART India office to map the 
current status of GRM and provide feed-back to ensure 
that options are available given global experiences of 
successes and failures.

GRIEVANCE REDRESSAL MECHANISM

PMN continued its interactions with PPAF and the 
World Bank to arrange for equity/second tier capital 

for MFIs as they transform into NBMFCs. So far, 4 to 5 
MFIs were able to access tier II capital from PPAF.

INTERACTIONS WITH PPAF & WORLD BANK

PMN played a major role with SECP for putting in place 
a regulatory framework for NBMFCs. So far, 26 NBMFCs 

have received licensing; In addition, approx. 4 MFIs 
decided to move out of microfinance.

REGULATORY FRAMEWORK FOR NBMFCS

PMN policy committee has met SBP to request review 
of MFI Ordinance 2001, to reflect current industry 
dynamics at multiple forums. As a result, industry’s 
views have been shared and majority of them have 

been incorporated by SBP in its proposals to the 
parliament. These amendments are with the standing 
committee on finance for review.

REVIEW OF MFI ORDINANCE 2001

PMN played a pivotal role in getting an exemption for 
the microfinance institution with less than 5000 active 
borrowers and allowing them to continue as NBMFIs. 
This has been approved by the federal cabinet and 

an exemption has been granted from regulation to 
MFIs having less than 5000 active borrowers or having 
outstanding portfolio of less than 50 million rupees.

EXEMPTION TO CONTINUE AS NBMFIS

Page 23 Page 24Pakistan Microfinance Network | Annual Report - 2018



WAY FORWARD
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PMN TEAM MEMBERS

Mr. Zeenoor Sheikh
Finance Associate
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TOTAL ASSETS   258,589,904            229,201,469 

FUNDS AND RESERVE:

Unrestricted funds

Endowment fund

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred capital grants 

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued and other liabilities

TOTAL FUNDS, RESERVE AND LIABILITIES

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

The annexed notes, from 1 to 40, form an integral part of these financial statements.

     2018                 2017

TOTAL ASSETS  

  

FUNDS AND RESERVES  

Unrestricted funds  

Endowment fund  

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Deferred capital grants  
  

CURRENT LIABILITIES  

Accrued and other liabilities  
  

TOTAL FUNDS, RESERVES AND 

LIABILITIES 
 
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 

 

  
The annexed notes, from 1 to 40, form an integral part of these financial statements.   

CURRENT ASSETS

Grant receivable 

Consultancy fees receivable 

Loans and advances 

Deposits and short term prepayments 

Other receivables 

Short term investments 

Current portion of long term investments 

Bank balances 
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PAKISTAN MICROFINANCE NETWORK 
(A company set up under section 42 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984) 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE                                                                          RUPEES

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property and equipment

Intangible assets

Long-term loans

Long-term investments

7

8

9

10

 9,181,951 

 37,999,170 

 908,779 

 82,918,709 

 131,008,609 

 

  5,477,317 

 984,536 

 677,277 

 79,019,446 

 86,158,576 

11

12

13

14

15

16

10

17

   46,126,618  

 9,404,443 

 5,523,397 

 5,699,745 

   35,593,990 

 -   

 12,357,684 

 6,760,638 

 121,466,515    

  252,475,124

 61,039,472 

 5,519,961 

 5,334,353 

 5,851,554 

 31,099,881 

 20,171,312 

 -   

 14,026,360 

 143,042,893  

229,201,469 

   143,925,063  

 70,485,728 

    214,410,791  

  126,733,041 

 70,485,728 

 197,218,769 

 
18

19

 1,933,338  3,097,662 

    36,130,995    28,885,038 

   252,475,124      229,201,469 

20

Syed Mohsin Ahmed Syed Nadeem Hussain
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR

        2018               2017



     2018                  2017        2018               2017

The annexed notes, from 1 to 40, form an integral part of these financial statements.
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PAKISTAN MICROFINANCE NETWORK 
(A company set up under section 42 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984) 

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

NOTE                                                                          RUPEES

INCOME

Grant income 

Members’ contributions 

Trainings 

Consultancy income 

Income from sponsorships 

Other income 

21

22

23

24

25

 163,531,064 

 8,975,000 

 15,519,791 

 15,352,389 

 20,552,713 

 12,580,807 

 236,511,764 

 175,795,364 

 8,850,000 

 9,923,352 

 -   

 14,692,536 

 17,817,235 

 227,078,487 

 

EXPENDITURE 

Governance and management 

Capacity building 

Enabling environment 

Information hub 

26

27

28

29

  (23,773,172)

 (12,642,538)

 (77,365,017)

 (48,586,013)

 (162,366,740)

  (21,683,389)

 (15,865,904)

 (81,455,598)

 (55,697,616)

 (174,702,507)

 

Other operating expenses 

 

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR

30

  

 (56,953,002)   (41,517,549)

 

 

 

 17,192,022              10,858,431 

Syed Mohsin Ahmed Syed Nadeem Hussain
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR



     2018                  2017

Syed Mohsin Ahmed Syed Nadeem Hussain
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR
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PAKISTAN MICROFINANCE NETWORK 
(A company set up under section 42 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984) 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

        2018               2017

                                                                         RUPEES

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR

 

Other comprehensive income:

 

TOTAL OTHER COMREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

  17,192,022 

 -

  

 

17,192,022                         

  10,858,431 

 

- 

10,858,431 

The annexed notes, from 1 to 40 , form an integral part of these financial statements.  

DIRECTOR



Changes in:  
Consultancy fees receivable 

Loans and advances 

Deposits and short-term prepayments 

Grant receivable 

Other receivables 

Accrued and other liabilities 

Deferred capital grants

Net cash generated from operating activities 

 

 

  (3,884,482)

 (189,044)

 151,809 

 10,198,074 

 (8,579,255)

 7,245,957 

 4,943,059 

-

23,760,599 

 8,855,580 

 (1,008,156)

 (2,651,897)

 (27,211,502)

 (27,090,023)

 17,705,531 

 (31,400,467)

 3,316,176 

1,212,307 
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PAKISTAN MICROFINANCE NETWORK 
(A company set up under section 42 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984) 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

     2018                2017

               NOTE                                                            RUPEES

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIE

Surplus for the year

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation 

Amortization 

Gain on disposal of items of property and equipment 

Grant receivable written off 

Other receivables written off 

Consultancy receivables written off 

Provision against doubtful receivables 

Amortization of deferred capital grant  

Liabilities written back 

Interest income 

  17,192,022   

 

  2,152,550 

 761,042 

 -   

 4,714,780   

 -   

 -   

 2,685,146 

 (1,164,324)

 -   

 (8,923,676)

225,518

  10,858,431  

 

 2,051,620 

 517,824 

 (139,938)

 15,302,047 

 3,124,576 

 1,698,400 

 5,665,001 

 (1,092,858)

 (36,517)

 (8,651,988)

 18,438,167 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  
Payments for property and equipment 

Payments for Intangible assets  

Sale proceeds on disposal of property and equipment 

Short term investments made 

Short term investments redeemed 

Long term investments made 

Long term investments redeemed 

Long term loans 

Interest received 

Net cash used in investing activities  

 

 

 (5,857,184)

 (37,775,676)

 -   

 -   

 20,000,000 

 (20,000,000)

 10,000,000 

 (231,502)

 2,838,041 

(31,026,321)

 (3,316,176)

 (538,283)

 147,000 

 (20,000,000)

 40,000,000 

 (53,242,958)

 - 

 (401,811)

 9,616,738 

 

(27,735,490)

7.1

8.1

11

26

26

26

21

25

25

Changes in: 

Consultancy fees receivable 

Loans and advances 

Deposits and short-term prepayments 

Grant receivable 

Other receivables 

Accrued and other liabilities

 

Deferred capital grants 

Net cash generated from operating activities  

 (3,884,482)

 (189,044)

 151,809 

 10,198,074 

 (7,179,255)

 7,245,957 

  6,343,059 

-   

23,760,599 

 8,855,580 

 (1,008,156)

 (2,651,897)

 (27,211,502)

 (27,090,023)

 17,705,531 

 (31,400,467)

3,316,176 

 1,212,307 



Syed Mohsin Ahmed Syed Nadeem Hussain
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR
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CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
 during the year    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF  
THE YEAR 
 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE 
YEAR  
 

       ----

 (7,265,722)

 14,026,360 

 

6,760,638 

         ---

 (26,523,183) 

 40,549,543 

 

14,026,360 

 

 

The annexed notes, from 1 to 40, form an integral part of these financial statements.  

17

     2018                2017



Syed Mohsin Ahmed Syed Nadeem Hussain
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PAKISTAN MICROFINANCE NETWORK 
(A company set up under section 42 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984) 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS AND RESERVE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

Balance as at January 01, 2017   

Total comprehensive income for the year  

Balance as at 31 December 2017 - as restated 

Balance as at 01 January 2018 -   

As previously reported   

 

   

Effect of restatement (Note - 37)   

Balance as at 01 January 2018 - as restated 

Total comprehensive income for the year

Balance as at 31 December 2018   

 

    

Funds and Reserves  

Unrestricted     
        funds 
 
 

Endowment 
       fund

Total

 115,874,610 

 10,858,431 

126,733,041 

130,598,223 

 -   

(3,865,182)

126,733,041 

 17,192,022 

143,925,063 

 

 70,485,728   

- 

 70,485,728  

-

 70,485,728 

-   

70,485,728 

-

 70,485,728 

 186,360,338 

 10,858,431 

 197,218,769 

201,083,951 

 

(3,865,182)

197,218,769 

17,192,022

214,410,791 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR

The annexed notes, from 1 to 40, form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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PAKISTAN MICROFINANCE NETWORK 
(A company set up under section 42 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

1- LEGAL STATUS AND OPERATIONS

1.1- Pakistan Microfinance Network (the Company), was incorporated on April 24, 2001, under section 42 of the 
Companies Ordinance, 1984 (the Ordinance) (repealed on promulgation of the Companies Act 2017 w.e.f. 30 May, 2017) 
as a guarantee limited company. The mission of the Company is to enhance the scale, quality, diversity and sustainability 
of retail Microfinance Institutions (MFIs) in Pakistan. The Company pursues this mission through the achievement of the 
following three primary objectives:          

 (i) Enhancing the capacity of retail MFIs;       
 (ii) Establishing the use of performance measures and promoting financial  
                            transparency in retail MFIs; and       
 (iii) Creating an enabling policy environment for retail MFIs.      
 
         The registered office of the Company is situated at 3rd floor, mandir square, plot 12-C/2, G-8 markaz, Islamabad.

1.2- The Company intends to apply for registration with the Economic Affairs Division (EAD), in compliance with the 
requirements of ‘Policy for regulation of organizations receiving foreign contributions’ notified by the EAD on November 
28, 2013 via notification No. 1(5)INGO/05.          

2- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS AND EVENTS  
     
The Company’s financial position and performance was particularly affected by the following events and transactions 
during the reporting period:          
          
 -  During the year the Company initiated a project named Digital Services Platform (DSP). The project aims to  
 digitize loan payment and recovery system of Microfinance institutions in Pakistan. Mobilization advances  
 amounting to Rs. 42 million were issued to hardware and software vendors for this project.   
      
 -  Due to the first time application of financial reporting requirements under the Companies Act, 2017, including  
 disclosure and presentation requirements of the fifth schedule of the Companies Act, 2017, some of the amounts  
 reported for the previous period have been reclassified.        
 
 -  During the year the Company, entered into a share purchase agreement, dated 6 December 2018, for equity  
 investment of 3.3 million shares in Aequitas Information Services Limited. Total value of investment is Rs.  
 33,250,000. (Also refer Note 39)         

3 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE    
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as 
applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan comprise of:   
       
- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards), issued by the International Accounting  
 Standards Board (IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017;     
    
- Accounting Standard for Not for Profit Organizations (NPOs) issued by the Institute of Chartered  
 Accountants of Pakistan, as notified under the Companies Act, 2017; and     
    
- Provisions of, and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017.     
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4 BASIS OF PREPARATION    
  

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.   
       
These financial statements are presented in Pak Rupees, which is the Company’s functional currency i.e. the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates.     
     

5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES      

5.1 Significant accounting estimates and judgments       
   
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with approved accounting standards requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the 
process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated 
and are based on historic experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in 
the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.     
     
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
estimates and judgments, which are significant to the financial statements:     
     
Property and equipment and intangibles 

The Company reviews the appropriateness of the rate of depreciation and amortization, useful lives and 
residual values used in the calculation of depreciation and amortization. Further, where applicable, an 
estimate of the recoverable amount of assets is made for possible impairment on an annual basis. In making 
these estimates, the Company uses the technical resources available with the Company. Any change in the 
estimates in the future might affect the carrying amount of the respective item of property and equipment 
or intangible assets, with a corresponding effect on the related depreciation charge / amortization and 
impairment.          
           
Provision for doubtful receivables         
 
The allowance for doubtful receivables of the Company is based on the ageing analysis and management’s 
continuous evaluation of the recoverability of the outstanding receivables. In assessing the ultimate 
realization of these receivables, management considers, among other factors, the credit worthiness and 
the past collection history of each party.         
 
Taxation          
           
The Company takes into account the current income tax law and decisions taken by appellate authorities. 
Instances where the Company’s view differs from that taken by the income tax department at the assessment 
stage and where the Company considers that its view on items of material nature is in accordance with law, 
the amounts are shown as contingent liabilities.        
  
Impairment of financial assets         
 
The carrying amounts of the Company’s assets are reviewed at each statement of financial position date 
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment loss. If any such indication exists, recoverable 
amount is estimated using criteria given in respective accounting standards to determine the extent of 
impairment loss, if any.          
           
Impairment of non-financial assets         
 
The carrying amounts of the Company’s assets are reviewed at each statement of financial position date 
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment loss. If any such indication exists, recoverable 
amount is estimated using criteria given in respective accounting standards to determine the extent of 
impairment loss, if any.          
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Provisions and contingencies          

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation 
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the 
discount is recognized as finance cost, if any.         
 
Where it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability, it is disclosed as 
contingent liability.          
          

5.2 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT    

These are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. Cost comprises of acquisition 
and other directly attributable costs.         
 
Depreciation is charged to income applying the straight line method, whereby the cost of an asset is written 
off over its estimated useful life. The rates of depreciation are stated in note 7.1 to the financial statements. 
Depreciation on assets is charged from the date of acquisition till the date of disposal.    
      
“Useful lives are determined by the management based on the expected usage of assets, the expected 
physical wear and tear, technical and commercial obsolescence, legal and similar limits on the use of assets 
and other similar factors.     
 
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each 
financial year end. The effect of any adjustment to residual values, useful lives and methods is recognized 
prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. 
 
The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying values may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where 
the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash generating units are 
written down to their recoverable amount.”         

5.3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS    
   

These are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment, if any. Cost comprises of acquisition 
and other directly attributable costs.  
        
Amortization is provided for by applying the straight line method. In respect of additions and disposals of 
intangible assets made during the year, amortization is charged to the income and expenditure statement from 
the month of acquisition, and up to the month preceding the disposal of such assets. The rate of amortization, 
which is disclosed in note 8.1, is designed to write off the cost of intangible assets over the estimated useful 
lives.          
           
The carrying values of intangible assets are reviewed for impairment, when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying values may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists, and where the carrying 
values exceed the estimated recoverable amounts, the assets or cash generating units are written down to their 
recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount of intangible assets is the greater of fair value less cost to sell and 
value in use.          
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5.4  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
         
 NON-DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES – RECOGNITION AND 
 DERECOGNITION          

The Company initially recognizes loans and receivables on the date when they are originated. All other 
financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized on the trade date when the Company becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.        
  
The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all 
of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset. 
Any interest in such derecognized financial assets that is created or retained by the Company is recognized 
as a separate asset or liability.
          
The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, 
or expire.          
          
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the amounts 
and intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
         
Non-derivative financial assets – Measurement        
  
Held-to-maturity financial assets         
 
Held to maturity financial assets comprise of long and short term investments. These assets are initially 
measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they 
are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.      
    
Loans and receivables          
          
Loans and receivables comprise of loans, grant and other receivables, consultancy fee receivables, cash and 
cash equivalents and deposits. These assets are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. 
         
Non-derivative financial liabilities – Measurement        
  
Non derivative financial liabilities comprise of accrued expenses, accounts payables and other liabilities. Non-
derivative financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of such obligation. Provisions 
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.     
     
         

5.5  PROVISIONS   
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5.6  STAFF RETIREMENT BENEFITS     
   

Defined contribution plans          
          
The Company operates a defined contribution voluntary pension scheme for its permanent employees. 
Contributions to the scheme are made by the Company and its employees, in accordance with the employment 
contract. The rate of employer and employee contributions is 10% of the basic pay of permanent employees. 
The scheme is fully funded and is being managed by MCB - Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited, on 
behalf of each individual employee.         
 
The Company has also entered into an arrangement with an insurance company, EFU Life Insurance Limited 
(EFU), in respect of a post employment benefit scheme for its employees, whereby the premium is paid 
annually to EFU in respect of the scheme and charged to income. As per the scheme, EFU is required to 
pay, one gross salary for every year of service to permanent employees, upon completion of three years of 
service.  
        
Under the above mentioned arrangements, the Company is only liable to pay the agreed contributions / 
premiums to MCB - Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited and EFU, and the liability towards employees 
rests with MCB - Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited and EFU.  

Previously, the Company obtained registration as a non profit organization, under section 2(36) of Income 
Tax Ordinance, 2001 (the Ordinance). Owing to a change in rule 214 of the Income Tax Rules, 2002, the 
Company’s registration under the section 2(36) of the Ordinance, now requires renewal after every three 
years. Management has applied for the renewal and is confident of the registration. 

As a non profit organization, in accordance with section 100C of the Ordinance, the Company is eligible for 
tax credit equal to one hundred percent of the tax payable, including minimum tax and final tax payable, 
under any of the provisions of the Ordinance. The credit is subject to compliance with certain conditions 
listed in section 100C.  The management believes that the Company is entitled to this credit and accordingly, 
no provision for taxation has been made in these financials statements.  

These financial statements are presented in Pak Rupees, which is the Company’s functional and presentation 
currency. Foreign currency transactions during the year are recorded at the exchange rates approximating 
those ruling on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated 
at the rates of exchange which approximate those prevailing on the statement of financial position date. 
Gains and losses on translation are taken to income currently. Non monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the 
initial transactions. Non monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the dates when the fair value was determined. 

Financial assets 
         
A financial asset is assessed at each statement of financial position date to determine whether there is any 
objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates 
that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of the asset. 
         
Non-financial assets 
         
The carrying values of non-financial assets are assessed at each statement of financial position date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the recoverable 
amount of the non-financial assets is estimated. An impairment loss is recognized as an expense in the 
income and expenditure statement, for the amount by which the non-financial asset’s carrying value exceeds 
its recoverable amount.          
         
          

5.7  TAXATION  
    

5.8  FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION     
 

5.9  IMPAIRMENT   
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5.10  INCOME RECOGNITION    

i) Income related grants          
          
Grants of a non capital nature are recognized at the time of their receipt. Subsequently, these are recognized in the 
income and expenditure statement to the extent of expenditure incurred. Expenditure incurred against grants, against 
which grant funds have been committed but not received, is recognized directly in the income and expenditure 
statement and reflected as a receivable from donors.        
 
ii) Capital grants          
         
Grants received for the purchase of fixed assets are initially recorded as deferred income upon receipt. Subsequently, 
these are recognized in the income and expenditure statement, on a systematic basis, over the periods necessary to 
match them with the carrying value of the related assets.        
 
iii) Consultancy income and training fees          
 
These are recognized when the related service has been rendered.       
  
iv) Registration and membership subscription fees and income from sponsorships     
     
These are recognized on an accrual basis.         
          
v) Profit on bank deposits and investments         
 
Mark up / interest on bank deposits and return on investments is recognized using the effective interest rate method. 
        
vi) Other Income          

Other income is recognized when the right to receive the same is established.      
   
    

The Company presents assets and liabilities in statement of financial position based on current / non current 
classification. An asset is classified as current when it is:         
  
(i) Expected to be realized or intended to sold or consumed in normal operating cycle,    
(ii) Held primarily for the purpose of trading,         
(iii) Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period, or      
(iv) Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting period.          
 
All other assets are classified as non current.         
 
A liability is classified as current when:
          
(i) It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle,       
(ii) It is held primarily for the purpose of trading,        
(iii) It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or      
(iv) There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the  
 reporting period.         
 
The Company classifies all other liabilities as non current.        
 

5.11  CLASSIFICATION OF CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES     
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5.12  UNRESTRICTED FUNDS    
     

This represents a general fund of the Company, comprising of the surplus generated from the Company’s 
operations, and is available for utilization for the day to day operations of the Company.  

This endowment, amounting to Rs 60 million, was received in year 2013 from the Pakistan Poverty Alleviation 
Fund (PPAF), under a Financing Agreement, dated September 2013. The endowment remained restricted 
for a period of three years, commencing September 01, 2013, during which period, PPAF reserved the 
right to suspend or terminate PMN’s right to this endowment and the income thereon, under specified 
circumstances.  
        
The restriction period of three years, expired on 31 August, 2016 and all the conditions mentioned in 
the agreement were fully complied with by the Company and accordingly, the Company transferred the 
endowment fund payable amount to Endowment Fund reserve account. The fund is available for utilization 
for the day to day operations of the Company.         
 
          
              
    
The following International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) as notified under the Companies 
Act, 2017 and the amendments and interpretations thereto will be effective for accounting periods beginning 
on or after 01 January 2019:          
           
1   IFRIC 23 ‘Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2019) clarifies the accounting for income tax when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments 
under IAS 12. The interpretation requires the uncertainty over tax treatment be reflected in the measurement 
of current and deferred tax. The application of interpretation is not likely to have an impact on Company’s 
financial statements. 
         
2   IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2018). IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when 
revenue is recognized. It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 18 ‘Revenue’, IAS 11 
‘Construction Contracts’ and IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’. The Company is currently in the process 
of analyzing the potential impact of changes required in revenue recognition policies on adoption of the 
standard. 
         
3   IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ and amendment – Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2018 and 1 January 2019 respectively). IFRS 9 
replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes 
revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, a new expected credit loss 
model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and new general hedge accounting requirements. It 
also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 39. The 
Company is currently in the process of analyzing the potential impact of changes required in classification and 
measurement of financial instruments and the impact of expected loss model on adoption of the standard. 
         
4   IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ (effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2019). IFRS 16 replaces 
existing leasing guidance, including IAS 17 ‘Leases’, IFRIC 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement contains 
a Lease’, SIC-15 ‘Operating Leases- Incentives’ and SIC-27 ‘Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving 
the Legal Form of a Lease’. IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-statement of financial position lease accounting 
model for lessees. A lessee recognizes a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset 
and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. There are recognition exemptions for 
short-term leases and leases of low-value items. Lessor accounting remains similar to the current standard 
i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases. The Company is currently in the process 
of analyzing the potential impact of its lease arrangements that will result in recognition of right to use 
assets and liabilities on adoption of the standard.        
 
        

5.13  ENDOWMENT FUND    
    

6  STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO APPROVED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS  
     THAT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE          



         
          
              
          
5 Amendment to IAS 28 ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’ - Long Term Interests in Associates 
and Joint Ventures (effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2019). The amendment 
will affect companies that finance such entities with preference shares or with loans for which repayment 
is not expected in the foreseeable future (referred to as long term interests or ‘LTI’). The amendment and 
accompanying example state that LTI are in the scope of both IFRS 9 and IAS 28 and explain the annual 
sequence in which both standards are to be applied. The amendments are not likely to have an impact on 
Company’s financial statements.         
 
6 Amendments to IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ - Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). The amendments clarify that on amendment, 
curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan, a company now uses updated actuarial assumptions 
to determine its current service cost and net interest for the period and the effect of the asset ceiling is 
disregarded when calculating the gain or loss on any settlement of the plan and is dealt with separately in 
other comprehensive income. The application of amendments is not likely to have an impact on Company’s 
financial statements.          

7 Amendment to IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ – Definition of a Business (effective for business 
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of annual period beginning on or 
after 1 January 2020). The IASB has issued amendments aiming to resolve the difficulties that arise when an 
entity determines whether it has acquired a business or a group of assets.  The amendments clarify that to 
be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a 
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments 
include an election to use a concentration test. The standard is effective for transactions in the future and 
therefore would not have an impact on past financial statements. The application of amendments is not likely 
to have an impact on Company’s financial statements.        
  
8 Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes 
in Accounting Estimates and Errors  (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020). 
The amendments are intended to make the definition of material in IAS 1 easier to understand and are not 
intended to alter the underlying concept of materiality in IFRS Standards. In addition, the IASB has also issued 
guidance on how to make materiality judgments when preparing their general purpose financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS Standards. The application of amendments is not likely to have an impact on Company’s 
financial statements.          
          
9 Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015 – 2017 Cycle - the improvements address amendments 
to following approved accounting standards:         
 
- IFRS 3  Business Combinations and IFRS 11  Joint Arrangement - the amendment aims to clarify the 
accounting treatment when a company increases its interest in a joint operation that meets the definition of 
a business. A company remeasures its previously held interest in a joint operation when it obtains control of 
the business. A company does not remeasure its previously held interest in a joint operation when it obtains 
joint control of the business.  
        
- IAS 12  Income Taxes - the amendment clarifies that all income tax consequences of dividends 
(including payments on financial instruments classified as equity) are recognized consistently with the 
transaction that generates the distributable profits.         
  
- IAS 23 Borrowing Costs - the amendment clarifies that a company treats as part of general borrowings 
any borrowing originally made to develop an asset when the asset is ready for its intended use or sale.  
        
The above amendments are effective from annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and are not 
likely to have an impact on Company’s financial statements.       
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7  PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT     
  

      2018                  2017

               NOTE                                                            RUPEES

 3,594,131 

 5,587,820 

 9,181,951 

 5,477,317 

 -   

 5,477,317 

Operating fixed assets     

Advance for acquisition of hardware   

 

    

7.1

7.2

7.1 OPERATING FIXED ASSETS  
  

As at 01 
January

Additions (Disposals) As at 31 
December 

As at 01 
January

Charge for 
the year

(On  
disposals)

As at 31 
December

As at 31 
December

Rate 
%

COST ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  
  

WRITTEN 
DOWN VALUE

2018   

Leasehold improvements

Furniture and fittings

Office equipment

Computer equipment

 4,829,121 

 1,634,944 

 3,031,632 

 2,971,549 

 12,467,246 

 -   

 -   

 269,364 

 -   

 269,364 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 4,829,121 

 1,634,944 

 3,300,996 

 2,971,549 

 12,736,610 

20

20

20

33

 2,437,842 

 723,209 

 2,352,982 

 1,475,896 

 6,989,929 

 965,824 

 218,033 

 278,895 

 689,798 

 2,152,550 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 3,403,666 

 941,242 

 2,631,877 

 2,165,694 

 9,142,479 

 1,425,455 

 693,702 

 669,119 

 805,855 

 3,594,131 

2017   

Leasehold improvements

Furniture and fittings

Office equipment

Computer equipment

 4,829,121 

 1,243,630 

 2,700,302 

 2,821,167 

 11,594,220 

 -   

 1,004,446 

 382,130 

 1,929,600 

 3,316,176 

 -   

 (613,132)

 (50,800)

 (1,779,218)

 (2,443,150)

 4,829,121 

 1,634,944 

 3,031,632 

 2,971,549 

 12,467,246 

20

20

20

33

 1,472,018 

 1,142,675 

 2,145,950 

 2,613,754 

 7,374,397 

 965,824 

 193,666 

 257,832 

 634,298 

 2,051,620 

 -   

 (613,132)

 (50,800)

 (1,772,156)

 (2,436,088)

 2,437,842 

 723,209 

 2,352,982 

 1,475,896 

 6,989,929 

 2,391,279 

 911,735 

 678,650 

 1,495,653 

 5,477,317 

7.2 ADVANCE FOR ACQUISITION OF HARDWARE   

This represents mobilization advance amounting to Rs. 5.6 million paid to Pakistan Telecommunication Company 
Limited (PTCL) for provision of hardware infrastructure for setting up Digital Services Platform (DSP). (Also refer 
Note 2 and 20.2 to the financial statements)          
      

      2018                 2017

               NOTE                                                            RUPEES

 1,798,494 

 36,200,676 

 37,999,170 

 984,536 

 - 

 984,536 

Softwares    

Advance for acquisition of software  

    

    

8.1

8.2

8  INTANGIBLE ASSETS  
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8.1 SOFT WARES
    

As at 01 
January

Additions (Disposals) As at 31 
December 

As at 01 
January

Charge for 
the year

(On  
disposals)

As at 31 
December

As at 31 
December

Rate 
%

COST ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  
  

WRITTEN 
DOWN VALUE

2018   

GIS based support  

system - MicroEye 

Accounting and  

anti-virus software 

Staff Information Bureau 

Pakistan Microfinance  

Review 

 2,429,755 

 2,432,523 

 273,311 

 1,117,555 

6,253,144 

 

  1,575,000 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 1,575,000 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

   

 4,004,755 

 2,432,523 

 273,311 

 1,117,555 

 7,828,144 

33

33

33

33

 2,429,755 

 1,447,987 

 273,311 

 1,117,555 

 5,268,608 

 174,983 

 586,059 

 -   

 -   

 761,042 

 -   

 

 -   

 -   

 2,604,738 

 2,034,046 

 273,311 

 1,117,555 

 6,029,650 

 1,400,017 

 398,477 

 -   

 -   

 1,798,494 

GIS based support  

system - MicroEye 

Accounting and  

anti-virus software 

Staff Information Bureau 

Pakistan Microfinance  

Review

 2,429,755 

 1,894,240 

 273,311 

 1,117,555 
 

5,714,861 

 -   

 538,283 

 -   

 -   

 538,283 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 2,429,755 

 2,432,523 

 273,311 

 1,117,555 

 6,253,144 

33

33

33

33

 2,429,755 

 930,163 

 273,311 

 1,117,555 
 

4,750,784 

 -   

 517,824 

 -   

 -   

 517,824 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 2,429,755 

 1,447,987 

 273,311 

 1,117,555 
 

 5,268,608 

 -   

 984,536 

 -   

 -   

984,536 

8.2 ADVANCE FOR ACQUISITION OF SOFT WARE    

This represents mobilization advance amounting to Rs. 36.2 million given to TPS Pakistan Private Limited (TPS) 
for provision of software for setting up Digital Services Platform (DSP). This also includes an amount of Rs. 5.2 
million which is payable as at reporting date. (Also refer Note 2 and 20.2 to the financial statements).   

      2018                  

               NOTE                                        RUPEES

 1,267,116 

 (589,839)

  677,277 

Considered good - unsecured  

Loans to employees  

Current portion shown under current assets  

   

9.1

13

9  LONG TERM LOANS  
    

9.1  Interest at the rate of 5% per annum (2017: 5%) is charged on the long-term loans extended to employees. 
Management considers that, in context of overall financial statements, impact of recognizing long term loans 
at present value of the future cash flows, would be immaterial.       

      2017                  

1,487,349 

(578,570)

908,779 
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       2018             

                                NOTE                         RUPEES  

Held to maturity    

Term Deposit Receipts:    

In associated companies:    

FINCA Microfinance Bank Limited    

NRSP Microfinance Bank Limited    

U Microfinance Bank Limited    

    

In others    

    

Less: current portion of long-term investments   

 

 35,508,462 

 21,245,974 

 11,351,241 

 10,913,769 

 79,019,446 

 -   

 79,019,446 

10  LONG TERM INVESTMENTS    
  

10.1    Details of investment in FINCA Microfinance Bank Limited are as follows:     

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

      2018                  

Purchase Date          Maturity Date          Payment terms          Profit rate                    Cost 
                                                                                                                       (per annum)             (Rupees)

23-Dec-17      23-Dec-20           Upon maturity     11%   13,242,958 

16-Jan-17      16-Jan-20           Upon maturity     11.5%                   10,000,000 

13-Oct-16      13-Oct-19           Upon maturity      11%   10,000,000 

10.2 DETAILS OF INVESTMENT IN NRSP MICROFINANCE BANK LIMITED ARE AS FOLLOWS:     

Purchase Date          Maturity Date          Payment terms          Profit rate                    Cost 
                                                                                                                       (per annum)             (Rupees)

18-May-17      18-May-20           Upon maturity     11%   20,000,000 

22-Nov-18      22-Nov-21           Upon maturity      12.5%                  10,000,000 

10.3 DETAILS OF INVESTMENT IN U MICROFINANCE BANK LIMITED ARE AS FOLLOWS:     

Purchase Date          Maturity Date          Payment terms          Profit rate                    Cost 
                                                                                                                       (per annum)             (Rupees)

18-May-18        18-May-21            Upon maturity      12%   10,000,000 

10.4 DETAILS OF INVESTMENT IN OTHER COMPANIES ARE AS FOLLOWS:     

Purchase Date          Maturity Date          Payment terms          Profit rate                    Cost 
                                                                                                                       (per annum)             (Rupees)

6-Feb-17         6-Feb-20            Upon maturity    11.2%   10,000,000 

      2017                  

       2017              

 39,094,694 

 33,487,336 

 10,674,203 

 12,020,160 

 95,276,393 

 (12,357,684)

 82,918,709 
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11  GRANT RECEIVABLE

Nationwide  
Microfinance 

 e Credit 
 Information  

Bureau MF-CIB

Impact 
Assessment

 Study 
 (Note 9.1)

NFIS Technical  
Assistance  

for  
Sub-Committees

PMN  
Business 

Plan Funding
(Note 11.1)

2018 2017
(Restated)

Balance as at January  01

Grants received during the year

Profit on bank placements 

  13,699,751 

 (13,699,751)

 -   

 -   

 ( 4,600,210 

 -   

 -   

 4,600,210 

  2,767,173 

 (2,086,843)

 -   

 680,330 

  39,972,338 

 (156,206,600)

 (571,620)

 (116,805,882)

 

 61,039,472 

 (171,993,194)

 (571,620)

 (111,525,342)

 49,130,017 

 (150,253,939)

 (553,241)

 (101,677,163)

Note

State Bank of Pakistan (SBP)  
  

Expenditure:

Governance and management

Capacity building

Enabling environment

Information hub

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 114,570 

 114,570 

  -   

 -   

 2,071,697 

 -   

 2,071,697 

 23,773,172 

 12,642,538 

 75,293,320 

 48,471,443 

 160,180,473 

  23,773,172 

 12,642,538 

 77,365,017 

 48,586,013 

 162,366,740 

 21,683,389 

 15,865,904 

 81,455,598 

 55,697,616 

 174,702,506 

26

27

28

29

Others:

Capital expenditure

Grant receivable written-off (Note 9.2)

Balance as at December 31

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 4,714,780 

-

 -   

 -   

 2,752,027 

 -   

 -   

 43,374,591 

 -   

4,714,780   

46,126,618 

 (3,316,176)

 (15,302,047)

 61,039,472 

DFID TOTAL 

11.1 This grant under the “Business Plan Funding” agreement is for an aggregate amount of GBP 2.7 million. The  
 grant period is 1 August, 2016 to 30 September, 2019. The grant aims to fund the activities in areas of re 
 search, knowledge management, digital payment ecosystem, client protection and center of excellence. 
        
          

         2018               2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES Unsecured - Considered good    

 Ghana Microfinance Institutions Network (GHAMFIN) 

 World Bank      

 Karandaaz Pakistan     

 Mennonite Economic Development Associates  

    

  

 3,487,500 

 1,379,174 

 3,836,015 

 701,754 

 9,404,443 

12  CONSULTANCY FEES RECEIVABLE    
  

 2,776,250 

 2,743,711 

 -   

 -   

 5,519,961 

 

         2018               2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES Loans - unsecured considered good   

 Current portion of long term loans    

 Advances    

 to employees - considered good   

 to vendors - unsecured considered good   

 to consultants - unsecured considered good  

  

  

 578,570 

 831,919 

 231,611 

 3,881,297 

 5,523,397 

13  LOANS AND ADVANCES  
    

 589,839 

 651,606 

 231,611 

 3,861,297 

 5,334,353 

9

13.1

13.2

11.2 Under the project: Impact Assessment Study, total three rounds of survey were to be conducted out of  
 which two rounds were completed in previous years. During the current year, grant receivable from SBP   
 amounting to Rs. 4,714,780 was written off owing to the fact that SBP disallowed the expenditure on the  
 grounds that third round was not conducted and contract period expired.     
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         2018               2017

         2018               2017

13.1 This includes advances to Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer amounting to Rs. 6,129 (2017:  
 78,109) and Rs. 1,160 (2017: Nil) respectively. The maximum aggregate amount outstanding to Chief Execu- 
 tive Officer at any time during the year is PKR. 232,500. Provision for doubtful advance and aging are not  
 disclosed as advance is not past due or impaired as at the reporting date.     
     

13.2    Loans and advances, except for the current portion of the long-term loan, are interest free, and are due on  
            demand.          
         
        
                   2018               2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

 Deposits  

 Short term prepayments  

 Rent  

 Employees’ benefits  

 Others  

     

  

14  DEPOSITS AND SHORT TERM PREPAYMENTS    
  

 980,060 

 578,103 

 4,078,722 

 62,860 

 4,719,685 

 5,699,745 

 330,160 

525,549 

 4,812,985 

 182,860 

 5,521,394 

 5,851,554 

         2018               2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES Considered good:    

 Membership fees    

 Training fees    

 Sponsorship fees    

 Salary survey fee    

 Social audit fee    

 Investor linkages fee    

 Others    

     

 Considered doubtful:    

 Receivable from South Asian Microfinance Network  

 Others    

 

 Less: Provision against doubtful receivables   

 

15  OTHER RECEIVABLES  
     

 2,240,000 

 2,057,338 

 26,352,713

 80,000 

 2,713,729 

 200,000 

 1,950,210 

 35,593,990

6,690,531 

 1,659,616 

 8,350,147 

 (8,350,147)

35,593,990

 2,730,000 

 5,882,156 

 13,942,536 

 1,115,000 

 2,551,891 

 1,032,875 

 3,845,423 

 31,099,881 

4,005,385

1,659,616

5,665,001

(5,665,001)

31,099,881

15.1

15.4

15.2

15.3

15.1 This represents sponsorship fee receivable against various events and conferences as described in note   
 30.2. 

15.2 This represents receivable against expenses incurred for South Asian Microfinance Network’s operations  
 by the Company.          
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         2018                 2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

Balance as at January 01  

Provision for doubtful receivables  

   

  

 

   

 

5,665,001 

2,685,146 

8,350,147  

 

15.3 MOVEMENT OF PROVISION FOR DOUBTFUL RECEIVABLES   
  

 5,665,001 

 5,665,001 

 

26

         2018                            2017

        

Membership fees    

FINCA Microfinance Bank Limited    

Organization for Participatory Development    

Telenor Microfinance Bank Limited    

      

 300,000 

 50,000 

 300,000 

 650,000 

1,640,000 

 597,460 

 1,153,771 

 1,301,250 

 350,000 

 1,503,496 

 6,545,977 

1,000,000 

 -   

 1,250,000 

 2,250,000 

 -   

 -   

 125,000 

 125,000 

1,592,729 

 410,000 

 711,000 

 - 

 2,713,729 

120,000 

 - 

 - 

 - 
 120,000 
12,404,706 

 300,000 

 - 

 - 

 300,000 

150,000 

 75,000 

 270,000 

 270,000 

 - 

 - 

 765,000 

1,000,000 

 - 

 - 

 1,000,000 

-   

 -   

 -   

 - 

1,592,729 

 410,000 

 711,000 

 - 

 2,713,729 

120,000 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 120,000 
4,898,729 

15.4 Other receivables include following receivables from associated companies. Aging for these  
 receivables have been disclosed in note 34.1.1 to the financial statements.    

Maximum aggregate 
amount outstanding 
during the aggregate 
 

        

Training fees    

Telenor Microfinance Bank Limited    

Khushali Microfinance Bank Limited    

Thardeep Microfinance Foundation    

FINCA Microfinance Bank Limited    

First Microfinance Bank Limited    

National Rural Support Program    

            

Sponsorship fees    

Khushali Microfinance Bank Limited    

FINCA Microfinance Bank Limited    

Thardeep Microfinance Foundation    

    

    

      

   

        

Salary survey fee  

JWS Pakistan  

U Microfinance Bank Limited  

FINCA Microfinance Bank Limited  

    

    

    

      

Social audit fee    

U Microfinance Bank Limited    

National Rural Support Programme    

Thardeep Microfinance Foundation    

Akhuwat Islamic Microfinance Company    

Others    

Akhuwat Islamic Microfinance Company    

First Microfinance Bank Limited    

JWS Pakistan    

Thardeep Microfinance Foundation    

   

 - 

 50,000 

 300,000 

 350,000 

560,464 

 - 

 1,178,771 

 - 

 1,105,000 

 648,771 

 3,493,006 

1,000,000 

 200,000 

 250,000 

 1,450,000 

125,000 

 125,000 

 250,000 

 500,000 

 - 

 - 

 - 

 642,713 

 642,713 

120,000 

 20,000 

 16,385 

 604,012 

 760,397 
7,196,116 
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         2018                2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES Held to maturity:    

 Investments in associated companies:   

 Term Deposit Receipts    

 Accrued Interest on term deposit receipts   

 

 

 -   

 -   

 -   

16 SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS  

 20,000,000 

 171,312 

 20,171,312 

 
16.1 This represented investment in TDR of NRSP Microfinance Bank Limited which carried interest  
 rate of 8.1% per annum and was matured on 24 November 2018.     
     

Bank balances include balances in saving accounts of FINCA Microfinance Bank Limited and Khushhali 
Microfinance Bank Limited of Rs. 171 (2017: Nil) and Rs. 34,778 (2017: 824,754) respectively and balances in 
current accounts of NRSP Microfinance Bank Limited of Rs. 100 (2017: Nil).     
     
          
        

          

17.1   

         2018                 2017

         2018                            2017

         2018                2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES Cash at banks in local currency  

 Savings accounts   

     Current accounts   

   

 

  

 6,760,538 

 100 

 6,760,638 

17 BANK BALANCES  
 

14,026,260 

100 

 14,026,360 

 

17.1 & 17.2

Savings accounts carry mark up at rates ranging between 6% to 7% (2017: 4% to 5%), per annum.  
        

17.2   

18 DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANTS   
  

         2018                2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES  

 Capital grants  

  

  

   

 

 1,933,338 

 

 3,097,662 

 

 

18.1

         2018                2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

Balance as at January 01      

Grants received during the year for:    

Property and equipment      

Transfers to the income and expenditure statement    

Amortization for the year     

Property and equipment disposed off during the year  

    

 3,097,662 

-   

(1,164,324)

 -   

 (1,164,324)

 1,933,338 

18.1 CAPITAL GRANTS  
  

874,344 

3,316,176 

(1,085,796)

 (7,062)

 (1,092,858)

 3,097,662 
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         2018                 2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

Accrued expenses     

Accounts payable     

Withheld income tax payable     

Payable to employees’ voluntary pension scheme   

Other liabilities     

 3,649,158 

 29,063,521 

 1,674,580 

 804,900 

 938,836 

 36,130,995 

19 ACCRUED AND OTHER LIABILITIES   

 2,985,182 

 21,246,705 

 1,838,451 

 887,220 

 1,927,480 

 28,885,038 

 

19.1

19.2

19.1 This includes payable to following associated companies and related parties for expenses incurred on  

 behalf of the Company.           
          
          
          

         2018                 2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES Related party:   

Chief Executive Officer   

   

Associated companies:   

   

FINCA Microfinance Bank Limited   

Organization for Participatory Development   

Thardeep Microfinance Foundation   

Waseem Malik   

JWS Pakistan   

Khushali Microfinance Bank Limited   

National Rural Support Programme   

U Microfinance Bank Limited   

      

 41,087 

59,719 

 3,000 

 37,270 

 19,396 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 119,385 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 23,866 

 -   

 29,000 

 20,416 

 19,083 

 100,000 

 192,365 

19.2 This includes payable of Rs. 477,441 (2017: Rs. 477,441) to JWS Pakistan (Associated company) for  

 training contribution.           

20.1 CONTINGENCIES        

 There were no contingencies as at 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).      

  20.2 COMMITMENTS 

    
20.2.1 The Company has entered into an agreement with Pakistan Telecommunications Company Limited (PTCL)  

 for the acquisition of hardware infrastructure for setting up Digital Services Platform (DSP). As per  

 the terms of the agreement payment for the said infrastructure is spread over the period of 5 years  

 through quarterly installments. The committed payments as of 31 December 2018 are as follows:   

         2018                2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

 -   

 -   

 -   

Amount payable within 1 year   

Amount payable in 2 to 5 years   

         
          
          

20 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS     

      

 28,317,978 

 113,271,912 

 141,589,890 
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         2018                 2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

         2018                 2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES 

20.2.2  The Company has entered into an agreement with TPS Pakistan (Private) Limited for the acquition of  

 intangibles for setting up Digital Services Platform (DSP). As per the terms of the agreement the  

 Company has committed to pay for the license and implementation fee by year 2019. Other than this  

 software support & maintenance fee would be payable on yearly basis for period of remaining 4 years. 

         

                 2018                2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

 -   

 -   

 -   

Amount payable within 1 year   

Amount payable in 2 to 5 years   

 80,672,436 

 72,610,200 

 153,282,636 

         2018                 2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEESRestricted grants     

State Bank of Pakistan (SBP)   

- Impact Assessment Study    

- NFIS Technical Assistance for Sub-committees    

Department for International Development (DFID) 

- PMN Business Plan Funding     

International Finance Corporation (IFC)     

- Financial Literacy     

Capital grants      

Amortization of deferred capital grant     

 

 114,570 

 2,071,697 

 160,180,473 

-   

 162,366,740 

 1,164,324 

 163,531,064 

21  GRANT INCOME 
  

  1,285,312 

 2,767,173 

168,515,391 

2,134,630 

 174,702,506 

 1,092,858 

 175,795,364 

18.1

         2018                2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

 1,271,381 

 1,013,926 

 3,113,750 

 2,898,147 

 1,626,148 

 9,923,352 

Boulder microfinance training    

Social performance task force meetings   

Local Trainings   

Grievance redressal mechanism training   

Harvard training course   

  

 2,980,295 

 -   

 10,972,500 

 -   

 1,566,996 

 15,519,791 

22  TRAININGS 
 

         2018                2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

 -   

 -   

 -   

Karandaaz Pakistan     

Mennonite Economic Development Associates  

PROPARCO     

 

 

  

 12,450,560 

 1,401,829 

 1,500,000 

 15,352,389 

23  CONSULTANCY INCOME  
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24  INCOME FROM SPONSORSHIPS   

 This represents the income received as sponsorships from various donors, organizations and members  

 on account of boot camp and various conferences on microfinance innovation and growth conducted by  

 the Company.          

        2018                  2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEESIncome from financial assets     

Profit on savings accounts     

Interest income on loans to employees     

Interest income on held to maturity investments    

 

Income from non-financial assets     

Income on enquiries from DataCheck     

Liabilities written-back     

Salary survey contributions from members     

Social audits     

Investor linkage     

Gain on disposal of operating assets     

Others     

 332,053 

 71,016 

 8,520,607 

 8,923,676 

558,869 

 -   

 -   

 1,621,000 

 -   

 -   

 1,477,262 

 3,657,131 

 12,580,807 

25  OTHER INCOME 
  

 288,126 

 48,567 

 8,315,295 

 8,651,988 

2,271,607 

 36,517 

 2,060,000 

 2,551,891 

 1,829,750 

 139,938 

 275,544 

 9,165,247 

 17,817,235 

30

31

        2018                   2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

Salaries and benefits   
Events / conferences / meetings   
Rent and utilities   
Depreciation and amortization   
Legal and professional    
Travel   
Auditors’ remuneration   
Internal audit and other certifications   
Grants receivable written off   
Office supplies   
Other receivables written off   
Consultancy receivable written off   
Designing and printing   
Office maintenance   
Insurance   
Entertainment   
Other expenses   
Bank charges   
Exchange loss   
Provision for doubtful receivables   
   
Allocated to other operating expenses  
 

 13,137,302 

 4,513,226 

 1,525,231 

 2,913,591 

 863,220 

 2,162,576 

 408,000 

 572,300 

 4,714,780 

 1,077,672 

 -   

 -   

 138,347 

 639,589 

 118,060 

 649,812 

 2,607,870 

 72,312 

 -   

 2,685,146 

 38,799,034  

(15,025,862)

23,773,172 

26  GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT   
    

 10,074,416 

 2,159,408 

 1,448,559 

 2,569,444 

 500,445 

 719,783 

 408,000 

 1,370,762 

 15,302,047 

 1,252,763 

 3,124,576 

 1,698,400 

 437,076 

 2,204,192 

 84,374 

 114,034 

 55,227 

 57,961 

 97,891 

 5,665,001 

 49,344,359 

 (27,660,970)

 21,683,389 

26.1

11

15.3

30
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        2018                   2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

Audit fees  

Out of pocket expense  

 363,000 

 45,000 

 408,000 

26.1 AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING:  
   

 363,000 

 45,000 

 408,000 

Tuition and accommodation fee   

Per diem and other allowances   

Consultant cost   

Events / conferences / meetings   

Designing and printing   

Travel   

Entertainment   

Salaries and benefits   

Rent and utilities   

Exchange loss   

Other expenses   

   

Allocated to other operating expenses   

 9,639,546 

 1,630,296 

 4,717,253 

 2,410,664 

 9,482 

 1,804,707 

 624,812 

 6,775,305 

 1,525,231 

 174,034 

 375,503 

 29,686,833 

 (17,044,295)

 12,642,538 

27  CAPACITY BUILDING  
  

 4,019,581 

 1,384,183 

 4,917,089 

 2,233,374 

 15,200 

 1,529,274 

 74,364 

 5,630,712 

 1,448,559 

 -   

 41,350 

 21,293,686 

 (5,427,782)

 15,865,904 

30

28  ENABLING ENVIRONMENT   

        2018                  2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

        2018                   2017

Consultant cost   

Salaries and benefits   

Rent and utilities   

Travel   

Events / conferences / meetings   

Per diem and allowances   

Direct project costs   

Entertainment   

Accommodation   

International memberships   

Designing and printing   

Exchange loss   

Other expenses   

   

Allocated to other operating expenses   

 11,598,326 

 38,629,158 

 1,525,231 

 12,107,344 

 11,881,497 

 10,194,800 

 -   

 624,812 

 6,353,255 

 1,171,965 

 747,993 

 277,362 

 1,037,899 

 96,149,642 

 (18,784,625)

 77,365,017 

 16,472,579 

 30,022,675 

 1,448,559 

 10,641,222 

 11,393,231 

 7,011,188 

 -   

 74,364 

 4,387,393 

 1,041,169 

 1,228,340 

 611,334 

 84,332,054 

 (2,876,456)

 81,455,598 

30
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29 INFORMATION HUB  
   

Salaries and benefits   

Consultant cost   

Travel   

Rent and utilities   

Accommodation   

Entertainment   

Events / conferences / meetings   

Designing and printing   

Per diem and allowances   

Exchange Loss   

Other expenses   

   

Allocated to other operating expenses   

  

 24,897,943 

 19,159,625 

 1,728,574 

 1,525,231 

 1,821,137 

 624,812 

 1,256,888 

 1,814,437 

 180,000 

 242,782 

 1,432,803 

 54,684,232 

 (6,098,219)

 48,586,013 

 20,015,616 

 21,153,146 

 4,243,345 

 1,448,559 

 2,663,778 

 74,364 

 4,021,846 

 2,446,106 

 4,519,077 

 -   

 664,120 

 61,249,957 

 (5,552,341)

 55,697,616 

30

        2018                  2017

30 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES   
    

 Receivables written-off   

 Provision for doubtful receivables   

 Salaries and benefits   

 Consultant cost   

 Travel   

 Accommodation   

 Per diem and allowances   

 Other expenses   

 Events / conferences / meetings   

 International memberships   

 International trainings   

 Rent and utilities   

 Legal and professional    

 Designing and printing   

 Entertainment   

 Office supplies   

 Office maintenance   

 Bank charges   

 Depreciation and amortization   

 Exchange loss   

4,714,780

 2,685,146 

 1,203,515 

 10,941,309 

 8,409,207 

 1,942,389 

 9,054,140 

 955,660 

 3,123,485 

 1,171,965 

 9,501,721 

 293,945 

 25,500 

 56,920 

 118,056 

 170,269 

 126,515 

 15,035 

 1,749,267 

 694,178 

 56,953,002

 20,125,023 

 5,665,001 

 -   

 8,009,014 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 419,783 

 -   

 5,427,782 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 31,575 

 1,741,480 

 97,891 

 41,517,549 

30.1 &  26

15.3

30.2

        2018                  2017

30.1 This included a write off of Rs. 4,714,780 against the Impact Assessment Study grant receivable from the  

 State Bank of Pakistan.          

30.2 This represents expense incurred on per diems, travelling, course fee and accommodation in relation to  

 the international trainings of the Company’s sponsored candidates of the member organizations.   
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31  REMUNERATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES     
     

The aggregate amounts charged in the financial statements for remuneration, including benefits, to the 
Chief Executive Officer and executives are as follows:        
  
          
         

        2018                  2017

        2018                  2017

Managerial remuneration 

Bonus for the year 

Pension fund scheme 

Contribution for gratuity 

Reimbursements 

Other benefits 

 

Number of person(s)  

         2018               2017

 9,066,816 

 2,644,488 

 604,452 

 500,000 

 137,951 

 1,935,067 

 14,888,774 

 8,242,560  

1,908,000  

 549,504  

 200,000  

 149,001  

 2,041,764  

13,090,829  

 

 

         2018               2017

 33,459,790 

 7,482,003 

 2,230,658 

 3,040,000 

 977,795 

 1,024,774 

 48,215,020 

  21,498,992 

 2,358,054 

 1,208,255 

 1,372,917 

 535,098 

 406,533 

 27,379,849 

      1                                 1                                               10                              7

Chief Executive Officer  Executives  
 

Rupees  Rupees  

No remuneration was paid to the company’s directors in the current and previous years.    
    

31.1 No remuneration was paid to the Company’s directors in the current and previous years.   

31.2 This represents payment for leave encashment, health insurance and contribution to Employees Old Age 
Benefits Institution. This also includes vehicle allowance of Chief Executive Officer.     
      

32  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES       
 

The related parties of the Company comprise of key management personnel and entities under common 
directorship.Balances with related parties have been disclosed in note 10, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 19 an
remuneration to Chief Executive Officer and Executives has been disclosed in Note 32. Transactions with 
related parties are as follows:         
          
          

32.1 TRANSACTIONS DURING THE YEAR:   
 

Transactions with associated companies:    

 

Training fee income     

Membership and registration fee income    

Sponsorship fee income     

Salary survey contributions income    

Social audit fee income     

Investor linkages fee income     

Interest income earned on TDRs     

Remuneration to key management personnel   

  

  8,311,566 

 3,000,000 

 2,500,000 

 -   

 1,621,000 

 -   

 7,414,216 

 22,770,841 

 6,358,282 

 3,725,000 

 1,700,000 

 875,000 

 642,713 

 796,875 

 5,947,269 

 18,611,141 

        2018                  2017

32.2 Following are the associated companies and related parties with whom the Company had entered into 
transactions during the year:          
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Associated Companies 
 

Basis of Relationship Number of shares
held in the 
Company

Aggregate %age 
shareholding in the 

Company

 U Microfinance Bank Limited    

 FINCA Microfinance Bank Limited   

 Telenor Microfinance Bank Limited   

 First Microfinance Bank Limited   

 Khushhali Microfinance Bank Limited   

 National Rural Support Programme   

 Akhuwat Islamic Microfinance Company   

 JWS Pakistan   

 Thardeep Microfinance Foundation   

 Organization for Participatory Development  

 

     

 Related Parties   

    

 

 

 Syed Mohsin Ahmed   

 Waseem Malik   

 Common directorship  

 Common directorship  

 Common directorship  

 Common directorship  

 Common directorship  

 Common directorship  

 Common directorship  

 Common directorship  

 Common directorship  

 Common directorship  

   

 Basis of Relationship  

   

 

 

 Chief Executive Officer   

 Chief Operating Officer   

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

Number of 

shares held in 

the Company

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

 N/A 

Aggregate %age 

shareholding in 

the Company

 N/A 

 N/A 

33  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT  
 

Fair value is the amount that would be received on sale of an asset or paid on transfer of a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Consequently, differences can arise 
between carrying values and fair value estimates. Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption 
that the entity is a going concern without any intention or requirement to curtail materially the scale of its 
operations or to undertake a transaction on adverse terms.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets i.e. listed equity shares are based on 
the quoted market prices at the close of trading on the period end date. The quoted market prices used for 
financial assets held by the institute is current bid price. A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an 
active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry 
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market 
transactions on an arm’s length basis.

IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurements’ requires the Company to classify fair value measurements using a fair value 
hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy 
has the following levels: 

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).   
- Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either  
  directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).     
- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)   
  (level 3).     
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33.1  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
         

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, 
including their levels in the fair value hierarchy it does not include fair value information for financial assets 
and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair 
value.              

Held to
 maturity

Loans and 
receivables

Other 
financial 
liabilities

Total  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

2018

Financial assets not measured 

at Fair Value

Long term investments

Long term loans 

Deposits

Grant receivable

Consultancy fees receivable

Other receivables

Short term investments

Bank balances

Financial liabilities not 

measured at Fair Value

Accrued and other liabilities

2017

Financial assets not measured 

at Fair Value

Long term investments

Long term loans 

Deposits

Grant receivable

Consultancy fees receivable

Other receivables

Short term investments

Bank balances

Financial liabilities not 

measured at Fair Value

Accrued and other liabilities

 82,918,709 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 

79,019,446 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 20,171,312 

 -   

 -   

 -   

1,487,349 

 980,060 

 46,126,618  

 9,404,443 

 46,126,618 

 -   

 6,760,638 

 -   

 -   

1,267,116 

 330,160 

 61,039,472 

 5,519,961 

 31,099,881 

 -   

 14,026,360 

 

-   

Note

Carrying Amount   Fair Value 
  

10

 9 & 13 

14

11

12

15

16

17

19

10

9 & 13

14

11

12

15

16

17

19

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 

34,456,415 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 

27,046,587 

 82,918,709 

 1,487,349 

 980,060 

 46,126,618

 9,404,443 

 35,593,990 

 -   

 6,760,638 

 

34,456,415 

 79,019,446 

 1,267,116 

 330,160 

 61,039,472 

 5,519,961 

 31,099,881 

 20,171,312 

 14,026,360 

 

27,046,587 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

Total
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34   FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:   
     
 - Credit risk;        
  - Liquidity risk; and        
  - Market risk.        
         
This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Company’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s management of 
capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.  

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s 
risk management framework. The Board is responsible for developing and monitoring the Company’s risk 
management policies.         
        
  

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations. It arises principally from the accounts receivables, deposits, short term 
investments, other receivables and bank balances. To manage credit risk the Company maintains procedures 
covering the application for credit approvals and monitoring of exposures against these limits. As part of 
these processes the financial viability of all counterparties is regularly monitored and assessed.  
      
        
The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. 
The Company attempts to control the credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting transactions with 
specific parties and continuing assessment of credit worthiness of these parties and dealing with financial 
institutions with high credit worthiness. Geographically there is no concentration of credit risk.

Exposure to Credit Risk        
     
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to 
credit risk at the reporting date was:        

34.1  RISK MANAGEMENT

34.1.1  CREDIT RISK

         2018                 2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

Grant receivable

Consultancy fees receivable

Deposits

Long term investments

Short term investments

Other receivables

Bank balances

 46,126,618

 9,404,443 

 980,060 

 82,918,709 

 -   

 35,593,990

 6,760,638 

 181,784,458  

 61,039,472 

 5,519,961 

 330,160 

 79,019,446 

 20,000,000 

 31,099,881 

 14,026,360 

 211,035,280 

11

12

14

10

16

15

17

Page 59Pakistan Microfinance Network | Annual Report - 2018



         2018                 2017

         2018                 2017

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

Associated companies 

Banks - Associated companies 

Other banks 

Others 

 4,898,729 

 70,933,498 

 18,745,849 

  87,206,382

 181,784,458

 7,196,116 

 88,930,431 

 24,115,375 

 90,793,358 

 211,035,280 

The maximum exposure to credit risk for financial assets at the reporting date by type of counter party was:  
      

The aging of receivables from associated companies at the reporting date was as follows:    
    

Gross
2018

Past due 0-60 days

Past due 60-180 days

Past due 180-365 days

Over 365 days

 6,584,267 

 491,849 

 -   

 120,000 

 7,196,116 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 1,495,000 

 -   

 570,000 

 2,833,729 

 4,898,729 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

Impairment
2018

Gross
2017

Impairment
2017

The aging of grant receivables at the reporting date was as follows:       
 

Past due 0-60 days

Over 365 days

 42,942,006 

 18,097,466 

 61,039,472 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 45,446,288 

  680,330 

  46,126,618 

 -   

 -   

 -   

Impairment
2018

Gross
2017

Impairment
2017

The aging of consultancy receivables at the reporting date was as follows:      
  

Past due 0-60 days

Over 365 days

 180,828 

 5,339,133 

 5,519,961 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 5,673,975 

 3,730,467 

 9,404,443 

 -   

 -   

 -   

Impairment
2018

Gross
2017

Impairment
2017

The aging of other receivables at the reporting date was as follows:       
 

Gross
2018

Gross
2018
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Past due 0-60 days

Past due 60-180 days

Past due 180-365 days

Over 365 days

 26,113,107 

 3,518,004 

1,041,125  

 6,092,646

 36,764,882

 -   

 -   

 -   

 5,665,001 

 5,665,001 

 20,049,869

  1,566,961 

  6,544,972 

 15,782,335 

43,944,137

 -   

 -   

 -   

 8,350,147 

 8,350,147 

Impairment
2018

Gross
2017

Impairment
2017

To manage exposure to credit risk in respect of receivables, management performs credit reviews taking into 
account the party’s financial position, past experience and other factors. Where considered necessary, advance 
payments are obtained from certain parties.         
        
Based on past experience, the management believes that there is no need of impairment allowance in respect 
of accounts receivable past due as certain receivables have been recovered subsequent to the year end and for 
other receivables there are reasonable grounds to believe that the amount will be recovered in short period of 
time.         
        
The exposure to banks is managed by dealing with variety of major banks with good credit ratings and 
monitoring exposure limits on continuous basis.   

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability 
of funding to an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions 
due to dynamic nature of the business. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as 
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and 
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. The 
maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on the contractual amount is as follows:   
     
        
        
        
        

Gross
2018

34.1.2 LIQUIDITY RISK

2018 

Accrued expenses  

Accounts payable  

Payable to employees’ voluntary 

pension   scheme  

Other liabilities  

Accrued and other liabilities  

 (3,649,158)

 (29,063,521)

 (804,900)

 (938,836)

 (34,456,415)

 3,649,158 

 29,063,521 

 804,900 

 938,836 

 34,456,415 

 (3,649,158)

 (29,063,521)

 (804,900)

 (938,836)

 (34,456,415)

Contractual 
cash flows

Payable 
within one 

year

Carrying 
amount

2017 

Accrued expenses  

Accounts payable  

Payable to employees’ voluntary 

pension   scheme  

Other liabilities  

Accrued and other liabilities  

 (2,985,182)

 (21,246,705)

 (887,220)

 (1,927,480)

 (27,046,587)

 2,985,182 

 21,246,705 

 887,220 

 1,927,480 

 27,046,587 

 (2,985,182)

 (21,246,705)

 (887,220)

 (1,927,480)

 (27,046,587)
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Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity 
prices will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of 
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while 
optimizing the return on risk.  

a)      Currency risk        

The Pak Rupee is the functional currency of the Company and as a result currency exposures arise from 
transactions and balances in currencies other than the Pak Rupee.      
  

34.1.3 LIQUIDITY RISK

Consultancy fee receivable

Net exposure

 5,519,961 

 5,519,961 

 49,707 

 49,707 

 5,568,428 

 5,568,428 

 39,917 

 39,917 

USD Gross
2017

USDRupees

2018 2017

The following significant exchange rates were applied during the year:     

US Dollars 139.50 111.05125.28 109.78

 Statement of Financial 
Position date rate   

 Average rates  
 

2017 2018 20172018

Sensitivity Analysis
       
A 1% strengthening of the functional currency against USD as at 31 December 2018 would have decreased 
surplus by Rs. 55,677 (2017: Rs. 55,201). A 1% weakening of the functional currency against USD as at 31 
December 2018 would have had the equal but opposite effect of these amounts. The analysis assumes that all 
other variables remain constant. 

b) Interest rate risk        
         
The interest rate risk is the risk that the value of financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in the market 
interest rates. At the reporting date, the Company’s interest bearing financial instruments comprise of cash at 
bank in savings accounts, short and long term investments carrying fixed interest rates. 

The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss. Therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss.    
    
c) Other market price risk        
         
Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those 
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all 
similar financial instruments traded in the market.        
         
At the year end the Company is not exposed to price risk since there are no financial instruments whose fair 
value or future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.      
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35 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT        
         
 The Company’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as  
 a going concern so that it can achieve its primary objectives, provide benefits for other stakeholders  
 and to maintain a strong capital base to support the sustained development of its businesses in line  
 with the objects of the Company.        
         

         2018                 2017

                                                                                  RUPEES

 Number of employees of the Company at the    

 reporting date      

 Average number of employees during the year  

       

20

21

21

20

36 NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES  
   

37 COMPARATIVE FIGURES     
              
 Effect of following errors relating to year 2017 has been applied retrospectively in accordance with the  
 requirement of IAS 8,”Accounting policies, change in accounting estimates and errors”. Further,  
 corresponding figures have been re-classified, where necessary, for more appropriate presentation of  
 transactions and events for the purpose of comparison.        
      
 Liability for expenses amounting to Rs. 13,374,417 was not recognized in the financial statements of  
 the Company for the ended 31 December 2017 having corresponding impact on expenses, respective  
 grant income, grant receivable and other liabilities.        
     
 Program related expenses amounting to Rs. 1,000,000 were erroneously recognized having corresponding  
 impact on grant income, grant receivable, other receivables and other liabilities.     
         
 Excess provision amounting to Rs. 4.2 million was recognized against other receivables.   
          
 Effect of above restatements / reclassification has resulted in following:     
        

       

Statement of Financial position:  

Grant receivable    

Other receivables   

Unrestricted funds   

Accrued and other liabilities  

Income and Expenditure Statement 

Grant income    

Governance and management  

Capacity building   

Enabling environment   

Information hub    

Other operating expenses  

    

 

 61,039,472 

 31,099,881 

126,733,041 

 28,885,038 

175,795,364 

 21,683,389 

 15,865,904 

 81,455,598 

 55,697,616 

 41,517,549 

 55,674,069 

 30,243,506 

130,598,223 

 18,798,078 

170,429,961 

 33,645,261 

 9,744,869 

 71,534,943 

 54,412,030 

 37,652,368 

 5,365,403 

 856,375 

(3,865,182)

 10,086,960 

5,365,403 

 (11,961,872)

 6,121,035 

 9,920,655 

 1,285,586 

 3,865,181 

Effect of 
Restatement/ 

reclassification 
Amount as 

Restated

Amounts 
Previously 
Reported

31 December 2017   
 

Page 63Pakistan Microfinance Network | Annual Report - 2018



38 SUBSEQUENT EVENT            
 
 Subsequent to the year end the Company made equity investment of Rs. 33,250,000 in Aequitas  
 Information Services Limited for 3,325,000 shares, pursuant to share purchase agreement dated 6  
 December 2018, entered into between the Company and Aequitas Information Services Limited. (Also  
 refer note 2 to the financial statements).         
    
              
39 DATE OF AUTHORIZATION           
  
 These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company in their meeting  
 held on  __________________________.         
    
              
40 GENERAL            

 The amounts presented in these financial statements have been rounded-off to the nearest Pak  
 Rupee, unless otherwise stated.          
   
              

Syed Mohsin Ahmed Syed Nadeem Hussain
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR
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